INFLUENCE OF A TWICE A DAY FEEDING REGIMEN AFTER PHOTOSTIMULATION
ON THE REPRODUCTIVE PERFORMANCE OF BROILER BREEDER HENS

by

JESSICA MARIE SPRADLEY

(Under the direction of Adam J. Davis)

ABSTRACT

In a commercial setting broiler breeders are typically provided a restricted amount of feed once a day during the laying period, and this feed is rapidly consumed, leaving the birds to fast for extended periods of time before the next feeding. In the current research, the effects of shortening the daily fasting period on the reproductive performance of broiler breeder hens was investigated by implementing a twice a day (2x) versus once a day (1x) feeding program after photostimulation. The hens fed 2x produced significantly more eggs during the early lay period and had a significantly greater cumulative percent hen day egg production than the hens fed 1x. Cumulative mortality was also significantly higher, however, for the hens fed 2x than the hens fed 1x. The results indicate that providing broiler breeder hens feed 2x compared to 1x after photostimulation can enhance reproductive performance during the early lay period.

KEYWORDS Broiler breeder hen, Twice a day feeding, Egg production

INFLUENCE OF A TWICE A DAY FEEDING REGIMEN AFTER PHOTOSTIMULATION ON THE REPRODUCTIVE PERFORMANCE OF BROILER BREEDER HENS

by

JESSICA MARIE SPRADLEY

B.S., The University of Georgia, 2007

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the University of Georgia in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE

ATHENS, GEORGIA

2007

© 2007

Jessica Marie Spradley

All Rights Reserved

INFLUENCE OF A TWICE A DAY FEEDING REGIMEN AFTER PHOTOSTIMULATION ON THE REPRODUCTIVE PERFORMANCE OF BROILER BREEDER HENS

by

JESSICA MARIE SPRADLEY

Major Professor: Adam Davis

Committee: Michael Lacy

Jeanna Wilson

Electronic Version Approved:

Maureen Grasso Dean of the Graduate School The University of Georgia August 2007

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my friends who have been a tremendous support over the past year.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge Adam Davis for his support over the past four years, for believing in me, and for his assistance in writing this thesis. I thank Michael Lacy, Jeanna Wilson, and the Poultry Science Department for this opportunity. I would like to acknowledge Elizabeth Freeman for her assistance with all of my data and her words of encouragement. I would also like to thank the farm crew, especially George, Carl, and Beverly, for all of their help.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
LIST OF TABLES.	viii
CHAPTER	
1 REPRODUCTIVE ENDOCRINOLOGY OF BROILER BREEDER HENS	1
1.1. Structure of the Hen Ovary	1
1.2. LHRH, FSH, and LH.	2
1.3. Steroidogenesis of the Hen Ovary	4
1.4. Activin and Inhibin	6
1.5. Metabolic Hormones and Ovarian Development	8
1.6. Summary	10
2 FEEDING REGIMENS AND THEIR EFFECTS ON BROILER BREEDER	
HENS	12
2.1. The Necessity of Feed Restriction.	12
2.2. Advantages of Feed Restriction.	15
2.3. The Timing of Feed Restriction Programs for Optimum Egg Production	20
2.4. Summary	22
References	24
3 STATEMENT OF PURPOSE	47

4	INFLUENCE OF A TWICE A DAY FEEDING REGIMEN AFTER	
	PHOTOSTIMULATION ON THE REPRODUCTIVE PERFORMANCE OF	BROILER
	BREEDER HENS.	50
	Abstract	51
	Introduction	52
	Materials and Methods.	53
	Results	56
	Discussion.	59
	References	63
	5 CONCLUSIONS	90

LIST OF TABLES

Page	е
Table 1. Composition of the experimental diets	7
Table 2. Body weight (BW) and coefficient of variation (CV) of BW of broiler breeder	
hens fed either once a day or twice a day after photostimulation for	
reproduction69)
Table 3. Hen day egg production (HDEP) and hen housed egg production (HHEP)	
through 59 weeks of age for broiler breeder hens fed either once a day or twice a day	
after photostimulation for reproduction71	Ĺ
Table 4. Cumulative mortality of broiler breeder hens from 23 through 59 weeks of age	
fed either once a day or twice a day after photostimulation at 21 weeks of	
age74	1
Table 5. Percent hatching and dirty egg production per week through 59 weeks of age for	
broiler breeder hens fed either once a day or twice a day after photostimulation for	
reproduction76	ó
Table 6. Abnormal (A), membrane (M), double-yolked (DY), and cracked (C) egg	
production through 59 weeks of age for broiler breeder hens fed either once a day or	
twice a day after photostimulation for reproduction)
Table 7. Biweekly egg weights for eggs produced by broiler breeder hens fed either once	
a day or twice a day after photostimulation for reproduction82	2

Table 8. Percent of total egg weight for individual egg component in eggs produced by broiler
breeder hens fed either once a day or twice a day after photostimulation for
reproduction84
Table 9. Specific gravities of eggs produced by broiler breeder hens fed either once a day
or twice a day after photostimulation for reproduction85
Table 10. Fertility, hatchability, and hatchability of fertile eggs produced by broiler
breeder hens fed either once a day or twice a day after photostimulation for
reproduction86
Table 11. The incidence of early dead (ED), mid dead (MD), and late dead (LD) embryo
mortality as well as the incidence of pips (P) in eggs incubated from broiler breeder hens
fed either once a day or twice a day after photostimulation for
reproduction

1. REPRODUCTIVE ENDOCRINOLOGY OF BROILER BREEDER HENS

1.1. Structure of the Hen Ovary

In the domestic hen, only the left ovary develops and this ovary consists of a pool of follicles arranged in a size hierarchy. Small white follicles, large white follicles, and small yellow follicles make up the prehierarchical follicles (increasing in size, respectively), while 5-8 large yellow follicles are the hierarchical follicles. Small white follicles measure less than 2 mm in diameter, large white follicles measure 2-5 mm in diameter, and small yellow follicles measure between 5 and 12 mm in diameter. The individual large yolk-filled preovulatory yellow follicles are 12-40 mm in diameter depending on the stage of their development. These large yellow follicles can be categorized by their size as well as by their time until ovulation. The largest sized follicle is designated as the F1 follicle, and it will typically ovulate within 24 hours, the next largest follicle is the F2 follicle and it will ovulate in about 48 hours, followed by the F3 follicle which will ovulate in 72 hours, and so on for the other follicles. After the F1 follicle ovulates the F2 follicle becomes the new F1 follicle, and succeeding follicles each advance one place in the hierarchy, and an additional follicle is recruited into the hierarchy from the pool of small yellow follicles. Similarly, several large white follicles and small white follicles also grow and advance to the next size category. Follicular recruitment into the hierarchy is a highly selective process. It is estimated that only 5% of the growing prehierarchical follicles will survive to reach a size of 6-8 mm (Gilbert et al., 1983a). Thus, the vast majority of follicles undergo follicular atresia with the individual follicular cells dying by apoptosis (Johnson et al., 1996a).

The outer structure of the avian ovarian follicle consists of several tissue layers, beginning with the theca layer which is the outermost layer and is followed in subsequent order by a basement membrane, a granulosa layer, an inner perivitelline layer, and a plasma membrane which surrounds the yolk. The theca layer can be further subdivided into two tissue layers, the theca interna and externa, and both of these layers contain vasculature while the granulosa layer does not. Granulosa cells are multilayered in the prehierarchical follicles, but as follicles mature into hierarchical follicles the granulosa cells migrate and form a monolayer.

1.2. LHRH, FSH, and LH

Gonadotrophin releasing hormone (GnRH) is released from the hypothalamic median eminence in response to environmental and physiological cues (Contijoch *et al.*, 1992; Advis and Contijoch, 1993). GnRH initiates the reproductive cycle by stimulating the production and release of follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinizing hormone (LH) from the anterior pituitary. In the domestic hen, adequate photostimulation (greater than 12 hours), attaining a body weight sufficient to support reproduction, and adequate nutrition are key cues that stimulate GnRH production. In avian species, GnRH is specifically referred to as luteinizing hormone releasing hormone (LHRH) because experimentally only LH release from the anterior pituitary is stimulated by GnRH (Krishnan *et al.*, 1993; Proudman *et al.*, 2006). Three forms of GnRH (GnRH I, GnRH II, and 1GnRH III) have been identified; however, only GnRH I appears to control LH secretion *in vivo* in avian species (Katz *et al.*, 1990; Sharp *et al.*, 1990; Wilson *et al.*, 1990a, 1990b, 1991; Millam *et al.*, 1998).

FSH receptor (FSH-R) expression in the hen ovary is highest in the granulosa cells of the small yellow follicles, and the level of expression decreases with follicular maturation (Calvo and Bahr, 1983; Ritzhaupt and Bahr, 1987; You *et al.*, 1996; Woods and Johnson, 2005). Theca cells express far less FSH receptors than granulosa cells and the level of FSH receptor expression in the theca cells does not vary significantly with follicular maturation (Gilbert *et al.*, 1985; Etches and Cheng, 1981; You *et al.*, 1996). FSH has several functions: it promotes granulosa cell proliferation and maturation (Davis *et al.*, 2000a; 2001); helps maintain the follicular hierarchy through prevention of atresia (Palmer and Bahr, 1992; Johnson *et al.*, 1996a, 1999); induces LH receptor, steroidogenic acute regulatory protein, and P450 cholesterol side chain cleavage (P450 SCC) enzyme expression in granulosa cells for subsequent steroid production (Li and Johnson, 1993; Johnson *et al.*, 2001, 2004); and stimulates progesterone production (Calvo and Bahr, 1983; Robinson *et al.*, 1988; Davis *et al.*, 1999, 2001; Johnson *et al.*, 2004).

LH receptor (LH-R) expression is highest in the granulosa cells of the large follicles, especially the F1-F3 follicles (Calvo *et al.*, 1981; Calvo and Bahr, 1983; Gilbert et al., 1983b, 1985; Johnson *et al.*, 1996b). LH receptor mRNA expression in the theca tissue varies little with follicular development (Johnson *et al.*, 1996b), and LH promotes steroidogenesis by the theca cells of prehierarchical and hierarchical follicles (Robinson and Etches, 1986; Kowalski *et al.*, 1991). Decreased expression of the mRNA for the LH receptor in 3-5 mm diameter prehierarchical follicles is associated with atresia (Johnson, 1996b). LH promotes granulosa cell growth (Davis *et al.*, 2001) and progesterone production (Davis *et al.*, 1999; Johnson *et al.*, 2004). Plasma LH concentrations peak 4-6 hours prior to ovulation (Etches, 1990).

1.3. Steroidogenesis of the Hen Ovary

In the avian ovary, steroids are synthesized by two metabolic pathways: the $\Delta 4$ and $\Delta 5$ pathways. Both pathways begin by converting cholesterol into pregnenolone through the activity of P450 SCC enzyme. From this point pregnenolone can be metabolized into two different compounds depending upon the pathway followed. In the $\Delta 4$ pathway, pregnenolone is converted by 3 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (3 β HSD) into progesterone, which can be metabolized to 17 α -OH-progesterone by the enzyme 17 α hydroxylase. The 17 α -OH-progesterone can then be converted to androstenedione by 17, 20 lyase. In the $\Delta 5$ pathway pregnenolone is converted into 17 α -OH-pregnenolone by 17 α hydroxylase and the 17 α -OH-progesterone is then converted by 17, 20 lyase to dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), which can be metabolized to androstenedione by 3 β HSD. Androstenedione is the common end product of both the $\Delta 4$ and $\Delta 5$ steroidogenesis pathways, and it can be metabolized into testosterone which then can be aromatased to estrogen.

The granulosa cells of the prehierarchical follicles are steroidogenically incompetent because they lack P450 SCC activity (Lee and Bahr, 1990; Tilly *et al.*, 1991). However, the theca cells of the prehierarchical follicles via the Δ5 steroidogenic pathway produce estrogens, and these cells are the primary source for circulating estradiol (Senior and Furr, 1975; Lee and Bahr, 1989, 1993). Plasma concentrations of estrogen peak 4-6 hours before ovulation. Estrogen stimulates the hypothalamus and pituitary to express progesterone receptors (Wilson and Sharp, 1976). Estrogen also stimulates the liver to produce lipid and vitellogenin for yolk formation (Deeley *et al.*, 1975) and aids in calcium metabolism for shell formation and medullary bone deposition (Etches, 1987). Estrogen increases the expression of its own receptor in the oviduct which increases estrogen's effects on oviductal functions (Takahashi *et al.*, 2004).

Estrogen also increases expression of progesterone receptors in the ovary and oviduct, which promotes the formation of tubular secretory glands for albumen and shell secretion and the contractile activity of the myometrium (Yoshimura and Bahr, 1991).

Both the granulosa and theca cells of the hierarchical follicles produce steroids. The granulosa cells express very low levels of 17α -hydroxylase and thus utilize the $\Delta 4$ pathway to produce progesterone (Etches and Duke, 1984; Lee and Bahr, 1989, 1993; Johnson et al., 1996a). The theca cells of the hierarchical follicles also use the $\Delta 4$ pathway to produce progesterone which they metabolize to androgens. More importantly, the theca cells of the hierarchical follicles, except those of the F1 follicle, metabolize the progesterone produced by the granulosa cells into androgens (Etches, 1990). In the F1 follicle, the theca cells do not metabolize the progesterone produced by the granulosa cells (Marrone and Hertelendy, 1985), and thus the F1 follicle is the primary source of plasma progesterone. Plasma progesterone produced by the F1 follicle binds to progesterone receptors in the hypothalamus to increase production and release of LHRH I, which increases the release of LH from the anterior pituitary (reviewed by Advis and Contijoch, 1993). The released LH travels through the circulatory system to the ovary and binds to its receptors on the granulosa cells of the F1 follicle to stimulate more progesterone production thus creating a positive feedback loop that leads to a surge in both LH and progesterone production that induces ovulation (Wilson and Sharp, 1976; Robinson and Etches, 1986). Plasma concentrations of progesterone peak 4-6 hours before ovulation. Progesterone and LH bind to their receptors in the cells along the stigma of the F1 follicle, activating the production of enzymes such as collagenase which degrade the tissue along the stigma and allow the rupture of the F1 follicle for ovulation (Isola et al., 1987; Yoshimura and Bahr, 1991).

1.4. Activin and Inhibin

Activin and inhibin are two closely related dimeric glycoprotein hormones that share a common protein subunit. Activin is composed of a combination of two distinct but similar β subunit proteins. Activin exists in three different forms: activin A (consisting of two β_A subunits), activin B (two β_B subunits), and activin AB (one β_A subunit and one β_B subunit). Inhibin is composed of one α subunit protein and one β subunit protein and exists as either inhibin A (with one α and one β_A subunit) or inhibin B (with one α subunit and one β_B subunit). Activin and inhibin not only modulate FSH secretion from the pituitary but also affect other reproductive functions in mammalian species (reviewed by Halvorson and DeCherney, 1996, Mather *et al.*, 1997, Woodruff, 1998, 2002, Welt *et al.*, 2002, and Phillips and Woodruff, 2004).

Follistatin, a soluble binding protein, binds activin and inhibin through their common β-subunit (Nakamura *et al.*, 1990). However, follistatin binds inhibin with less affinity than it does with activin (Shimonaka *et al.*, 1991; Krummen *et al.*, 1993). Many of the biological actions of activin seem to be neutralized by the binding of activin with follistatin (reviewed by Michel *et al.*, 1993), but binding of activin by follistatin may not neutralize all biological activity of activin (Mather *et al.*, 1993). Changes in the bioactivity of inhibin once bound to follistatin have not been characterized.

The mRNA expression and protein expression of the inhibin and activin subunits as well as follistatin are well characterized in the laying hen ovary (Davis and Johnson, 1998; Lovell *et al.*, 1998, 2003; Johnson *et al.*, 2005). The granulosa cells of the largest hierarchical follicles of the ovary produce inhibin A while the small follicles produce inhibin B (Lovell *et al.*, 1998, 2003; Johnson *et al.*, 2005). In particular, the F1 follicle serves as the primary source for inhibin A (Lovell *et al.*, 1998). Activin A production is greater in the theca cells than the granulosa cells

(Lovell *et al.*, 1998). Activin A production gradually increases from the small prehierarchical follicles to the F4 follicle, but then rapidly declines after the F4 stage (Lovell *et al.*, 2003). Follistatin is produced by both the theca and the granulosa cells, and its production by the granulosa cells is highest in the prehierarchical follicles (Lovell *et al.*, 2003).

In avian species, active immunization against the inhibin α -subunit resulted in accelerated puberty and enhanced hen day egg production in Japanese quail (Moreau et al., 1998), increased testicular weight in cockerels (Lovell et al., 2000), and increased numbers of preovulatory follicles in turkey hens (Ahn et al., 2001). In addition, broiler hens which naturally produce fewer eggs than laying hens have higher follicular mRNA expression of the inhibin α-subunit than laying hens (Safi et al., 1998; Slappey and Davis, 2003). Furthermore, laying hens that have short sequence lengths compared to those with long sequence lengths before a pause day have a greater granulosa cell expression of the mRNA for the inhibin α-subunit in the F1 and F4 follicles (Wang and Johnson, 1993). Although an over expression of the inhibin α -subunit appears to be correlated with decreased reproductive capability, the exact roles that activin and inhibin play in follicular development are just starting to be discerned. In general, the addition of activin A to granulosa cell cultures induces the mRNA expression of LH (Johnson et al., 2004; Johnson et al., 2006) and FSH (Davis et al., 2001; Johnson et al., 2004; Woods and Johnson, 2005; Johnson et al., 2006) receptors. Activin A also inhibits granulosa cell proliferation in granulosa cell cultures from hierarchical follicles (Davis et al., 2001; Johnson et al., 2006) but not in granulosa cell cultures from prehierarchical follicles (Johnson et al., 2006). In contrast, the addition of inhibin A to cultured granulosa cells did not affect the expression of LH or FSH receptors and had no effect on granulosa cell proliferation (Johnson et al., 2006).

1.5. Metabolic Hormones and Ovarian Development

1.5.1. Leptin

Leptin, a protein hormone synthesized and secreted by adipose tissue in mammals, regulates food intake and energy expenditure (reviewed by Friedman and Halaas, 1998, and Houseknecht and Portocarrero, 1998), and influences the onset of reproductive puberty and gonad steroidogenesis (reviewed by Smith et al., 2002, Ebling, 2005, Zieba et al., 2005, and Budak et al., 2006). In avian species, leptin is produced in the liver in response to feeding (Taouis et al., 1998; Ashwell et al., 1999; Kochan et al., 2006). The biology of the chicken leptin receptor has also been fairly well characterized (Horev et al., 2000; Ohkubo et al., 2000). Leptin's role in avian reproduction is not well investigated; however, based on preliminary reports, it may provide an endocrine mechanism tieing nutritional status to reproduction. Paczoska-Eliasiewicz et al. (2003) reported that hens injected with leptin twice a day during a five day fast had a delay in the cessation of egg laying, less hierarchical follicle regression, and lower rates of fasting-induced follicular apoptosis than non injected fasted birds. The leptin receptor is expressed in the hen ovary (Paczoska-Eliasiewicz et al., 2003; Ohkubo et al., 2000). Cassy et al. (2004) reported that the mRNA for the leptin receptor is detected in both granulosa and theca cells of the four largest preovulatory follicles of broiler hens and that the expression of the leptin receptor is increased in the granulosa cells of broiler breeders fed ad libitum versus feed restricted.

1.5.2. Ghrelin

In mammals, the hormone ghrelin is produced by the stomach. Ghrelin production is increased when there is a negative energy balance and many of its physiological actions involve

stimulating feed intake and influencing metabolism (reviewed by Korbonits *et al.*, 2004, Van der Lely *et al.*, 2004, and Ueno *et al.*, 2005). Ghrelin has been found to suppress LH secretion in both intact and ovariectomized mammals and may be a mechanism by which insufficient caloric intake depresses reproduction in females (Furuta *et al.*, 2001; Fernandez-Fernandez *et al.*, 2004; Vulliemoz *et al.*, 2004; Tena-Sempere, 2005). In chickens, ghrelin mRNA expression is highest in the proventriculus (Kaiya *et al.*, 2002; Richards *et al.*, 2006). Plasma ghrelin levels increase when chicks are fasted and after refeeding return to baseline levels (Kaiya *et al.*, 2007). The mRNA for the ghrelin receptor has been detected in follicular fragments that contain both theca and granulosa cells (Sirotkin *et al.*, 2006).

1.5.3. Thyroid Hormone

In mammalian species, thyroid hormones (T3 and T4) are well established as regulators of metabolism, but there is emerging evidence that they may be involved in regulating reproduction as well. Elevated levels of thyroid hormone can delay sexual maturity, alter gonadotropin release, and increase sex hormone binding globulin production such that steroid hormone activity is altered (Fitko and Szelezyngier, 1994; Doufas and Mastorakos, 2000). Low levels of thyroid hormones are also associated with decreased androgen production (Doufas and Mastorakos, 2000). In avian species, thyroid hormones help regulate body temperature (Danforth and Burger, 1984) and growth and maturation (Bouvet *et al.*, 1987). The role of thyroid hormones in regulating reproduction in avian species has not been examined extensively. Exogenous thyroid hormone will stimulate testicular growth in quail (Follett and Nicholls, 1985; Yoshimura *et al.*, 2003). In addition, T4 concentrations are elevated and T3 concentrations are depressed during molting (Brake *et al.*, 1979; Lien and Siopes, 1989; Davis *et al.*, 2000b). The

elevated T4 levels during molting are interesting given that it has been shown feed restricted broiler breeder hens (Bruggeman *et al.*, 1997), cockerel chicks food deprived for about one day (Buyse *et al.*, 2000), and male quail deprived of food for three days (Kobayashi and Ishii, 2002) all have reduced plasma concentrations of T3. More research is needed to determine whether thyroid hormones play a significant role in avian reproduction.

1.6. Summary

The developmental stage of the large yolk-filled preovulatory follicles on the hen ovary is visually apparent based on the well defined size hierarchy of the follicles. Although the development of the hierarchical follicles is tightly regulated with an interval of 24-26 hours between each consecutive ovulation, the endocrinology involved in maintaining the follicular hierarchy on the ovary is not completely understood. The steroid and gonadotropin profiles associated with follicular growth in the hen are well described. Very little is known, however, about the role of ovarian produced hormones such as activin and inhibin in the development and maintenance of the highly ordered follicular hierarchy. Furthermore, the involvement of hormones such as leptin and ghrelin, which may regulate follicular development based on the hen's nutritional status, is just starting to be explored.

2. FEEDING REGIMENS AND THEIR EFFECTS ON BROILER BREEDER HENS

2.1. The Necessity of Feed Restriction

Through genetic selection and better bird management, today's broilers reach a market weight of 2 to 2.5 kilograms in 6 weeks or less. This rapid growth rate in broilers is facilitated by a nearly insatiable appetite. These voracious appetites and rapid growth rates, however, are counter productive to optimal reproductive performance in the genetically similar parent stocks of broilers. Optimum reproductive performance in broiler breeders is dependent in large part on attaining an ideal body weight to support reproduction, consuming a nutritionally adequate diet, and being properly photostimulated. In the US, broiler breeder pullets are reared on predominantly corn/soybean meal diets which are the same type of diets used to feed commercial broilers. Interestingly, the ideal body weight for reproduction is very similar to 6 week market size, but optimum sensitivity to photostimulation for the initiation of reproduction in broiler breeders does not occur until about 20 weeks of age.

Ovarian development and egg production are very sensitive to stimulation by increasing photoperiod length. A photoperiod of 12 to 14 hours in laying hens is sufficient to stimulate maximum plasma LH concentrations and egg production (reviewed by Sharp, 1993, and Etches, 1996). However, chicks are born photorefractory and acquire maximum sensitivity to light only after they have been exposed to short day lengths (Etches, 1996). The duration of the exposure to short days before photosensitivity is acquired is not well determined, but it appears to be 8-12 weeks (reviewed by Etches, 1996). Hens that are not photostimulated will still reach sexual maturity and produce eggs. Domestic fowl reared on a daily, continuous lighting schedule that

provides either 6 hours or 22 hours of light will reach sexual maturity at about 21 weeks of age (Johnson, 2000). Similarly, Wilson and Cunningham (1980) reported that hens provided 8 hours of light daily started to reach sexual maturity at 19 weeks of age; however, plasma LH concentrations and egg production were significantly lower compared to hens that were photostimulated with 16 hours of light at 17 weeks of age.

Given that maximum egg production at minimal cost is the goal for broiler breeder farmers, broiler breeder pullets must be managed so that ideal body weight for the onset of reproduction is achieved at about 20 to 21 weeks of age and matches the acquisition of photosensitivity for reproduction. To prevent broiler breeder pullets from growing too quickly and becoming obese prior to the photosensitivity-based sexual maturity that occurs at 20 to 21 weeks of age, current pullet management protocols call for dietary intake to be severely restricted. Typically, feed allocations are 60-80 percent less during the rearing period and 25-50 percent less during the laying period than what the breeder pullets/hens would consume if fed *ad libitum*.

There are two basic approaches to feed restricting broiler breeders, a severe quantitative restriction of the typical energy dense corn and soybean meal based diet or a qualitative restriction in which the nutrient density of the diet is diluted so that more feed can be fed at a given time. Typically for the quantitative restriction feeding programs, the diet utilized is so nutrient dense that the amount of feed available on daily basis during the rearing period is not enough to be distributed to all pullets or breeder hens equitably. Therefore, the pullets are typically fed on a skip a day basis so that the feed allotment for two days can be combined. By combining two days worth of feed, the amount of feed that is fed is large enough that it can be distributed to all the available feeder space, which reduces the competition among the birds and

helps ensure that the less aggressive birds also get their portion of feed. The reduction in competition for food results in improved flock body weight uniformity (Bartov *et al.* 1988). Improved uniformity leads to better overall flock performance since the nutrient and management requirements of uniform birds are similar and feeding regimes can be tailored to the average bird size. Flock body weight uniformity is also important later in the production cycle because better uniformity has been linked with an earlier average age at first egg (Petitte *et al.*, 1982) and greater total egg production during the lay period (Hudson *et al.*, 2001). During the early egg production period the amount of feed needed to support egg production allows the total volume of feed for the flock to be sufficient so that the hens can be placed on an everyday feeding schedule.

In an effort to lessen the severity of the feed restriction associated with quantitative feed restriction programs, researchers have developed and tested qualitative feed restriction programs. The goal of the qualitative feed restriction programs is to increase the amount of feed available to be fed through the use of feed diluents or by utilizing less nutrient dense feed ingredients.

Zuidhof *et al.* (1995) fed broiler breeder hens standard rearing and laying diets from 0 to 56 weeks of age or standard diets diluted with either 15% or 30% with ground oat hulls. The birds fed diluted diets had better flock body weight uniformity and decreased stress levels than birds fed standard undiluted diets. The decreased stress levels and better flock uniformity values probably resulted from the increased availability of feed. In fact, during the lay period the average time until all the feed was consumed was 264, 349, and 489 minutes for the standard, and the 15% oat hull and the 30% oat hull diet, respectively. Interestingly, hens fed the 15% oat hull diet had the highest egg production and chick production of all the treatments through 56 weeks of age. Egg production for the birds fed the 30% oat hull diet was equivalent to the

control birds. Tolkamp *et al.* (2005) also utilized oat hulls (40% of diet) as a dietary diluent, and combined this diet with Ca proprionate, an appetite suppressant. Tolkamp *et al.* fed this diet *ad libitum* to broiler breeder pullets during the rearing phase. Even though the pullets were fed *ad libitum* and consumed 6.54 kg/bird more feed than the pullets fed a control diet lacking the oat hulls and Ca proprionate, they gained body weight at an equivalent rate to the control birds and had equal subsequent reproductive performance.

Hogsette *et al.* (1976) tested the effects of qualitatively restricting broiler breeder hens by using an inert dietary diluent. They fed hens a typical corn/soybean meal laying diet or this diet mixed with 50 g of sand/kg of diet in 3 separate experiments (with hens at 66 weeks of age, 33 weeks of age, and 32 weeks of age). They noted no differences in egg production, egg weight, fertility, or hatchability between the two dietary treatments in any of their experiments.

However, they did report that birds on the qualitatively restricted diet gained less body weight, resulting in energy and nutrient savings and less energy spent to produce an egg. Thus, a diet with 5% sand reduced the cost of feed by 3% while not compromising the reproductive performance of the hens.

Lordelo *et al.* (2004) utilized a different approach to qualitative feed restriction. Instead of diluting the diet with "filler" such as sand or oat hulls, broiler breeder pullets were reared from 2 to 18 weeks of age with either a standard corn/soybean meal diet or a diet in which the soybean meal was replaced with cottonseed meal. Cottonseed meal has a lower nutrient density than soybean meal. The birds fed the cottonseed meal diet had to be fed a greater amount of feed in order to achieve the same body weight as those fed the diet containing soybean meal. In particular, the birds could be fed more of the corn/cottonseed meal diet without increasing body weight gain compared to the birds fed the corn/soybean meal diet because of the very low levels

of total and available lysine in cottonseed meal relative to soybean meal. As a result of being provided access to more feed than the birds fed the diet containing soybean meal, the birds fed the corn/cottonseed meal diet had significantly better flock body weight uniformity.

2.2. Advantages of Feed Restriction

2.2.1. Body Weights

Obviously, feed restriction during rearing reduces the body weights of broiler breeders when compared to *ad libitum* fed birds (Robbins *et al.*, 1986; Bruggeman *et al.*1999, 2005; Richards *et al.*, 2003; Onagbesan *et al.*, 2006). Bruggeman *et al.* (1999) reported that at the end of 15 weeks, birds fed *ad libitum* were twice the weight of birds that were quantitatively feed restricted beginning at 7 weeks of age. Onagbesan *et al.* (2006) determined that the body weights of the birds fed *ad libitum* were significantly heavier at all ages (up through 36 weeks) compared to birds that were restricted by 55% of what they would consume *ad libitum*. Renema *et al.* (1999a) examined body weight gain between photostimulation and sexual maturity in broiler breeder pullets fed *ad libitum* or feed restricted. The pullets fed *ad libitum* gained significantly more weight than the feed restricted pullets and the increased body weight of the *ad libitum* fed birds was distributed across fat, muscle, and organ tissue.

Although much more research needs to be completed there are some indications that the excessive food intake and weight gain associated with *ad libitum* feeding permanently alters normal metabolic and endocrine functions. Cassy *et al.* (2004) grew broiler breeders with *ad libitum* or restricted access to feed during a 20 week rearing period. Subsequently all the hens were allowed *ad libitum* feeding during the laying period. When sampled at 32 weeks of age the

birds that had been fed ad libitum during the rearing period had higher hepatic leptin mRNA expression but equivalent plasma leptin levels to the birds that had been feed restricted during rearing. In addition, the levels of leptin receptor mRNA expression in the F1, F3, and F4 follicles were significantly higher in the birds that had been fed ad libitum versus those that had been feed restricted during rearing, indicating that feeding programs utilized in rearing may permanently alter subsequent ovarian endocrinology. In contrast, even though fasting plasma glucose concentrations were significantly lower in birds fed ad libitum compared to feed restricted birds, when measured at 32 weeks of age the protein expression of insulin signaling pathway proteins in small white follicles was not different between the two groups of birds (Metayer et al., 2006). Finally, Chen et al. (2006) conducted short term studies with 35 week old broiler breeder hens. One group of hens was fed the breeder recommended feed amount of 145 g/day while another group of hens was fed 290 g/day. At the end of the 10 day experimental period the hens fed the higher amount of feed had lower egg production, heavier body weights, larger abdominal fat pad weights, and higher plasma concentrations of insulin, glucose, leptin, triacylglycerol, and nonesterified fatty acids. The hens fed the larger amount of feed also exhibited hierarchical follicular atresia. Although limited in number and scope, these research reports clearly indicate the potential linkage between nutrient intake and follicular development and the need for additional research in this area.

2.2.2. Sexual Maturity

Sexual maturity occurs at an earlier age in broiler breeders reared on an *ad libitum* feeding regimen as opposed to a restricted feeding regimen (Heck *et al.*, 2004; Hocking, 2004; Renema and Robinson, 2004; Bruggeman *et al.*, 2005). Heck *et al.* (2004) reported that the

onset of egg production occurred at 20 weeks for broiler breeders reared on an *ad libitum* feeding regimen, but occurred at 25.4 weeks for broiler breeders reared on a restricted feeding regimen, even though the hens from both treatments were exposed to the same lighting schedule.

Depending on the genetic strain of the broiler breeder pullets, Bruggeman *et al.* (2005) reported a delay in sexual maturity of only 2 or 3 weeks in birds feed restricted during rearing compared to birds fed *ad libitum*. Melnychuk *et al.* (2004) also reported that broiler breeder pullets that had been fed *ad libitum* after photostimulation at 21 weeks of age attained sexual maturity about 2 weeks earlier than pullets that were maintained on a feed restriction feeding program. However, if photostimulation was delayed until 24 weeks of age there was no difference in the age of sexual maturity between the feed restricted and *ad libitum* fed pullets. Melnychuck *et al.* (2004) reasoned that by 24 weeks of age all the pullets had reached a threshold body weight regardless of the feeding program and thus responded equally to photostimulation. Subsequently, Hocking (2004) determined that the onset of egg production was linearly related to body weight in broiler breeders fed a relatively constant quantity of feed after photostimulation.

The earlier onset of sexual maturity in broiler breeder hens fed *ad libitum* versus those fed on a restricted basis is reflected in their reproductive hormone profiles. The increase in the LHRH I content of the median eminence of broiler breeder hens typical prior to sexual maturity was significantly delayed and then sharply increased just before egg production in broiler breeder pullets feed restricted from 2 to 24 weeks of age compared to birds fed *ad libitum* (Bruggeman *et al.*, 1998a). Bruggeman *et al.* (1998b) reported 16 week old broiler breeder pullets that were fed *ad libitum* during rearing had significantly higher plasma FSH and estradiol concentrations compared to pullets that had been feed restricted during rearing. Similarly, Onagbesan *et al.* (2006) reported plasma estradiol levels were higher and peaked at an earlier age

in broiler breeder hens fed *ad libitum* compared to hens feed restricted beginning at 2 weeks of age. However, once the restricted-fed hens reached peak plasma estrogen levels, they maintained higher levels of plasma estradiol than their *ad libitum*-fed counterparts. Even when an *ad libitum* feeding regimen is not implemented in broiler breeder hens until the time of photostimulation, differences in plasma estrogen concentrations are apparent. Renema *et al.* (1999b) determined plasma estrogen concentrations in broiler breeder hens either fed *ad libitum* or feed restricted at the time of photostimulation at 21 weeks of age. Each hen within the two feeding regimes was also assigned to a body weight category of high, standard, or low. At sexual maturity all the hens from the 3 body weight categories that were fed *ad libitum* had higher plasma estradiol concentrations than their feed restricted counterparts. In addition, the timing of peak estradiol production was delayed in the feed restricted hens compared to hens fed *ad libitum*.

2.2.3. Egg Production

Although sexual maturity is reached earlier in broiler breeder pullets fed *ad libitum* than in feed restricted-fed pullets, *ad libitum* fed breeders produce fewer total and settable eggs in a production cycle than hens that were feed restricted during rearing and then given feed *ad libitum* at sexual maturity (Heck *et al.*, 2004; Bruggeman *et al.*, 2005; Onagbesan *et al.*, 2006). A further gain in total egg production can be achieved when broiler breeder hens are feed restricted in rearing as well as during the production cycle (Yu *et al.*, 1992a). The reason for the poor egg production in broiler breeder hens fed *ad libitum* compared to feed restricted broiler breeder hens is due to poorer livability and propensity for abnormal follicular development. Broiler breeder hens fed *ad libitum* during rearing have higher ovary weights than feed restricted

hens during rearing (Yu *et al.*, 1992a). The increase in ovarian weight is associated with the development of more large yellow preovulatory follicles (Hocking *et al.* 1987). The increased number of large yellow follicles is often manifested as a double hierarchy with pairs of follicles of similar weights (Whitehead and Hocking, 1998) which is linked to an increased incidence of double-yolked eggs, erratic ovulations and atresia of large yellow follicles (Hocking *et al.* 1989). Restricted feeding of broiler breeder hens during the rearing and laying periods reduces the number of large yellow follicles in the ovary of broiler breeder hens (Hocking *et al.* 1987, 1989; Heck *et al.*, 2004; Hocking and Robertson, 2005) and thus reduces the incidence of multiple ovulations in a single day and the number of abnormal eggs laid (Fattori *et al.* 1991; Yu *et al.*, 1992a; Heck *et al.*, 2004) as well as decreasing the number of atretic follicles on the ovary (Hocking and Robertson, 2005). Furthermore, broiler breeder hens that have been feed restricted during rearing and production lay longer sequences (Robinson *et al.*, 1991a) and persist in lay longer (Fattori *et al.*, 1991) compared to full-fed broiler breeder hens.

2.2.4. Welfare Issues

Ad libitum feeding of broiler breeder hens is thought to be detrimental to the welfare of the birds because it encourages obesity and all of the related negative effects including higher mortality (Katanbaf et al., 1989; Bruggeman et al., 2005), leg and joint problems (reviewed by Renema and Robinson, 2004), and other metabolic disorders. However, in some respects ad libitum feeding may be better for the welfare of the birds because it reduces stress (Kubikova et al., 2001). Increased stress in broiler breeder hens that are feed restricted is observable by increased abnormal behaviors, including more time spent pecking at the feeders, less time sitting, more time pacing, and less time preening (Kubikova et al., 2001). Plasma corticosterone levels

may also signal the amount of stress a bird is experiencing as higher levels of corticosterone are indicative of higher stress levels in avian species. Broiler breeder hens that are feed restricted according to the breeder's guidelines have higher corticosterone levels than birds fed *ad libitum*, fed twice the amount of the restricted birds, or fed a qualitatively restricted diet diluted with 30% hardwood dust (Kubikova *et al.*, 2001). Thus, feed restricted birds may be stressed because they are hungry, bored, or challenged by the increased competition amongst their flock mates when feed is given to them.

Qualitatively restricted diets may be better for animal welfare compared to quantitatively restricted diets. Sandilands *et al.* (2005) noted lower cortisol levels, less object picking (less signs of boredom), and less feed motivation in qualitatively restricted birds compared to birds quantitatively restricted throughout their lives. Zuidhof *et al.* (1995) also reported that broiler breeders fed a qualitatively restricted diet implemented during the rearing and lay periods spend less time at the water source and that their heterophil:lymphocyte ratios suggest a lower stress level at 12 weeks of age compared to a standard quantitatively restricted diet implemented during the rearing and lay periods. Kubikova *et al.* (2001) also reported that hens which were qualitatively feed restricted had lower corticosterone levels than hens that were quantitatively feed restricted, but they had higher corticosterone levels than hens fed *ad libitum*.

2.3. The Timing of Feed Restriction Programs for Optimum Egg Production

Even though restricting the amount of feed fed to broiler breeder hens may increase their stress, the egg production benefits associated with feed restricting broiler breeder hens is

believed to outweigh feeding them ad libitum in a commercial setting. However, while the necessity of feed restricting broiler breeders is widely recognized by poultry scientists and producers, the degree of feed restriction as well as the timing and duration of feed restriction during a broiler breeder's life cycle is not agreed upon. An ad libitum feeding regimen may be successfully used at certain times of the broiler breeders' lives. Bruggeman et al. (1999) indicated that ad libitum feeding from 1-7 weeks of age followed by feed restriction from 7-15 weeks of age followed by ad libitum feeding to first egg, resulted in improved reproductive performance compared to any other combination of ad libitum or restricted feeding during the rearing period. Pym and Dillon (1974) reported it was best to have severe restriction during the rearing period beginning at 10 weeks of age followed by ad libitum feeding during the laying period for optimum egg production. Total egg production was also better through 68 weeks of age in female broilers which were restricted during rearing (through 24 weeks of age) and then fed ad libitum than birds fed ad libitum throughout their lives (Robbins et al., 1986). In addition, Robbins et al. (1988) reported that egg production was better in broiler breeder hens fed ad libitum during weeks 24-31 and 24-64 compared to hens feed restricted their entire lives (Robbins et al., 1988). In complete contrast, Robinson et al. (1991a) reported that ad libitum feeding during the breeding period resulted in lower egg production. McDaniel et al. (1981) and Yu et al. (1992a, b) suggested that feed restriction should occur in both the rearing and breeding periods for optimum reproductive performance, and most broiler breeder hens in commercial production are feed restricted in both the rearing and breeding periods.

One common industry method of feed restriction is to utilize the previously mentioned skip a day feeding regimen from around 2 weeks of age until sexual maturity followed by feeding restricted feed amounts on an every day basis during the breeding/egg production period

(Bell and Weaver, 2002). The skip a day feeding method is used during the rearing period because, as previously mentioned, it allows for better flock body weight uniformity and because it decreases body weight gains, delays sexual maturity, and increases the number of settable eggs produced by broiler breeder hens compared to an every day feeding program during rearing (Wilson *et al.*, 1989).

Often in commercial settings the skip a day feeding program was continued until the broiler breeder flock reached 5 percent egg production. This was done to control flock body weight uniformity and to help control body weight gain since even a very slight excess of body weight prior to peak production results in a significant decrease in total egg production (reviewed by Robinson *et al.*, 1991b). Recently, Gibson (2006) reported that initiating an everyday feeding regimen after photostimulating broiler breeder hens for reproduction increased total egg production by about 19 eggs per bird by the end of 65 weeks of age, compared to continuing the skip a day feeding regime until 5 percent egg production was reached. Gibson also reported that plasma estrogen levels were increased and plasma progesterone levels were decreased for the entire breeding period in the hens fed on a skip a day basis until 5 percent egg production compared to the hens that were fed everyday.

2.4. Summary

Feed restriction methods fall into two categories, qualitative and quantitative. In quantitative feed restriction programs small amounts of a typical diet are fed, while in qualitative restriction programs the nutrient content of typical diet is diluted so that more of it can be fed.

Restricting feed intake has several advantages over *ad libitum* feeding in broiler breeder hens, including lower and more uniform body weights, lower mortality, delayed sexual maturity, and better egg production. Although the best timing and the degree to which feed needs to be restricted is not completely defined for optimum egg production and livability, in most commercial settings the broiler breeders are restricted during both the rearing and breeding periods. Typically some form of a quantitative skip a day feed restriction program is used during the rearing phase followed by a quantitative every day feed restriction program during the breeding/egg production period.

References

- Advis, J. P. and A. M. Contijoch. 1993. The median eminence as a site for neuroendocrine controls of reproduction in hens. Poultry Science. 72: 932-939.
- Ahn, J., S. You, H. Kim, Y. Chaiseha, and M. E. El Halawani. 2001. Effect of active immunization with inhibin α subunit on reproductive characteristics of turkey hens. Biology of Reproduction. 65: 1594-1600.
- Ashwell, C. M., S. M. Czerwinski, D. M. Brocht, and J. P. McMurtry. 1999. Hormonal regulation of leptin expression in broiler chickens. The American Journal of Physiology. 276: 226-232.
- Bartov, I., S. Bornstein, Y. Lev, M. Pines, and J. Rosenberg. 1988. Feed restriction in broiler breeder pullets: skip-a-day versus skip-two-days. Poultry Science. 67: 809-813.
- Bell, D. D. and W. D. Weaver. 2002. Commercial chicken meat and egg production. Fifth Edition. Feeding broiler breeders. Pages 329-369. Kluwer Academic Publishers. Norwell, Massachussetts.
- Bouvet, J., Y. Usson, and J. Legrand. 1987. Morphometric analysis of the cerebellar purkinje-cell in the developing normal and hypothyroid chick. International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience. 5: 345-355.
- Brake, J., P. Thaxton, and E. H. Benton. 1979. Physiological changes in caged layers during a forced molt. 3. Plasma thyroxine, plasma triiodothyronine, adrenal cholesterol, and total adrenal steroids. Poultry Science. 58: 1345-1350.

- Bruggeman, V., D. Vanmontfort, R. Renaville, D. Portetelle, and E. Decuypere. 1997.

 The effect of food intake from two weeks of age to sexual maturity on plasma growth hormone, insulin-like growth-factor I, insulin-like growth factor-binding proteins, and thyroid hormones in female broiler breeder chickens. General and Comparative Endocrinology. 107: 212-220.
- Bruggeman, V. O., E. D'Hondt, L. Berghman, O. Onagbesan, D. Vanmontfort, F. Vandesande, and E. Decuypere. 1998a. The effect of food intake from 2 to 24 weeks of age on LHRH-I content in the median eminence and gonadotrophin levels in pituitary and plasma in female broiler breeder chickens. General and Comparative Endocrinology. 112: 200-209.
- Bruggeman, V., O. Onagbesan, D. Vanmontfort, L. Berghman, G. Verhoeven, and E.Decuypere. 1998b. Effect of long-term food restriction on pituitary sensitivity to cLHRH-I in broiler breeder females. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 114: 267-76.
- Bruggeman, V., O. Onagbesan, E. D'Hondt, N. Buys, M. Safi, D. Vanmontfort, L.
 Berghman, F. Vandesande, and E. Decuypere. 1999. Effects of timing and duration of feed restriction during rearing on reproductive characteristics in broiler breeder females.
 Poultry Science. 78: 1424-1434.
- Bruggeman, V., O. Onagbesan, O. Ragot, S. Metayer, S. Cassy, F. Favreau, Y. Jego, J. J. Trevidy, K. Tona, J. Williams, E. Decuypere, and M. Picard. 2005. Feed allowance—genotype interactions in broiler breeder hens. Poultry Science. 84: 298-306.
- Budak, E., M. Fernandez Sanchez, J. Bellver, A. Cervero, C. Simon, and A. Pellicer.2006. Interactions of the hormones leptin, ghrelin, adiponectin, resistin, and PYY3-36 with the reproductive system. Fertility and Sterility. 85: 1563-1581.

- Buyse, J., E. Decuypere, V. M. Darras, L. M. Vleurick, E. R. Kuhn, and J. D. Veldhuis.
 2000. Food deprivation and feeding of broiler chickens is associated with rapid and interdependent changes in the somatotrophic and thyrotrophic axes. British Poultry Science. 41: 107-116.
- Calvo, F. O., S. C. Wang, and J. M. Bahr. 1981. LH-stimulable adenylyl cyclase activity during the ovulatory cycle in granulosa cells of the three largest follicles and the postovulatory follicle of the domestic hen (*Gallus domesticus*). Biology of Reproduction. 25: 805-812.
- Calvo, F. O. and J. M. Bahr. 1983. Adenylyl cyclase system of the small preovulatory follicles of the domestic hen: responsiveness to follicle-stimulating hormone and luteinizing hormone. Biology of Reproduction. 29: 542-547.
- Cassy, S., S. Metayer, S. Crochet, N. Rideau, A. Collin, and S. Tesseraud. 2004. Leptin receptor in the chicken ovary: Potential involvement in ovarian dysfunction of *ad libitum*-fed broiler breeder hens. Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology. 2: 72-79.
- Chen, S. E., J. P. McMurtry, and R. L. Walzem. 2006. Overfeeding-induced ovarian dysfunction in broiler breeder hens is associated with lipotoxicity. Poultry Science. 85: 70-81.
- Contijoch, A. M., C. Gonzalez, H. N. Singh, S. Malamed, S. Troncoso, and J. P. Advis.

 1992. Dopaminergic regulation of luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone release at the median eminence level: Immunocytochemical and physiological evidence in hens.

 Neuroendocrinology. 55: 290-300.
- Danforth, E., and A. Burger. 1984. The role of thyroid-hormones in the control of energy-expenditure. Clinics in Endocrinology and Metabolism. 13: 581-595.

- Davis, A. J. and P. A. Johnson. 1998. Expression pattern of messenger ribonucleic acid for follistatin and the inhibin/activin subunits during follicular and testicular development in *Gallus domesticus*. Biology of Reproduction. 59: 271-277.
- Davis, A. J., C. F. Brooks, and P. A. Johnson. 1999. Gonadotropin regulation of inhibin α-subunit mRNA and immunoreactive protein in cultured chicken granulosa cells. General and Comparative Endocrinology. 116: 90-103.
- Davis, A. J., C. F. Brooks, and P. A. Johnson. 2000a. Estradiol regulation of follistatin and inhibin α and β_B -subunit mRNA in avian granulosa cells. General and Comparative Endocrinology. 119: 308-316.
- Davis, G. S., K. E. Anderson, and A. S. Carroll. 2000b. The effects of long-term caging and molt of single comb white leghorn hens on heterophil to lymphocyte ratios, corticosterone, and thyroid hormones. Poultry Science. 79: 514-518.
- Davis, A. J., C. F. Brooks, and P. A. Johnson. 2001. Activin A and gonadotropin regulation of follicle-stimulating hormone and luteinizing hormone receptor messenger RNA in avian granulosa cells. Biology of Reproduction. 65: 1352-1358.
- Deeley, R. G., K. Mullinix, W. Wetekam, H. Kronenberg, M. Meyers, J. Eldridge, and R. Goldberger. 1975. Vitellogenin synthesis in the avian liver. Vitellogenin is the precursor of the egg yolk phosphoproteins. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 250: 9060-9066.
- Doufas, A. G., and G. Mastorakos. 2000. The hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axis and the female reproductive system. Annals of the New York Academy Sciences. 900: 65-76.
- Ebling, F. J. 2005. The neuroendocrine timing of puberty. Reproduction. 129: 675-683.

- Etches, R. J. and K. W. Cheng. 1981. Changes in the plasma concentrations of luteinizing hormone, progesterone, oestradiol and testosterone and in the binding of follicle-stimulating hormone to the theca of follicles during the ovulation cycle of the hen (*Gallus domesticus*). Journal of Endocrinology. 91: 11-22.
- Etches, R. J. and C. E. Duke. 1984. Progesterone, androstenedione, and oestradiol content of theca and granulosa tissues of the four largest ovarian follicles during the ovulatory cycle of the hen (*Gallus domesticus*). Journal of Endocrinology. 103: 71-76.
- Etches, R. J. 1987. Calcium logistics in the laying hen. Journal of Nutrition. 117: 619-628.
- Etches, R. J. 1990. The ovulatory cycle of the hen. CRC Critical Reviews in Poultry Biology 2. 4: 293-318.
- Etches, R. J. 1996. Reproduction in Poultry. Photoperiodism. Pages 106-124. CAB International. Cambridge, UK.
- Fattori, T. R., H. R. Wilson, R. H. Harms, and R. D. Miles. 1991. Response of broiler breeder females to feed restriction below recommended levels. 1. Growth and reproductive performance. Poultry Science. 70: 26-36.
- Fernandez-Fernandez, R., M. Tena-Sempere, E. Aguilar, and L. Pinilla. 2004. Ghrelin effects on gonadotropin secretion in male and female rats. Neuroscience Letters. 362: 103-107.
- Fitko, R. and B. Szlezyngier. 1994. Role of thyroid hormone in controlling the concentration of luteinizing hormone/human chorionic gonadotropin receptors in rat ovaries. European Journal of Endocrinology. 130: 378-380.

- Follett, B. K. and T. J. Nicholls. 1985. Influences of thyroidectomy and thyroxine replacement on photoperiodically controlled reproduction in quail. Journal of Endocrinology. 107: 211-221.
- Friedman J. M. and J. L. Halaas. 1998. Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals. Nature. 395: 763-770.
- Furuta, M., T. Funabashi, and F. Kimura. 2001. Intracerebroventricular administration of ghrelin rapidly suppresses pulsatile luteinizing hormone secretion in ovariectomized rats. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 288: 780-785.
- Gibson, L. C., (2006) Influence of feeding methods during early lay in broiler breeder hens. Masters Thesis, pp 1-59. University of Georgia, Athens, GA.
- Gilbert, A. B., M. M. Perry, D. Waddington, and M. A. Hardie. 1983a. Role of atresia in establishing the follicular hierarchy in the ovary of the domestic hen (*Gallus domesticus*). Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 69: 221-227.
- Gilbert, A. B., M. F. Davidson, and J. W. Wells. 1983b. Detection of gonadotrophic hormones on isolated granulosa cells of the domestic hen, *Gallus domesticus*, by an immunohistochemical method. The Histochemical Journal. 15: 753-761.
- Gilbert, A. B., M. F. Davidson, and J. W. Wells. 1985. Detection of gonadotrophic hormones on isolated thecal interstitial cells of the domestic hen, *Gallus domesticus*, by an immunohistochemical method. The Histochemical Journal. 17: 105-111.
- Halvorson, L. M. and A. H. DeCherney. 1996. Inhibin, activin, and follistatin in reproductive medicine. Fertility and Sterility. 65: 459-469.

- Heck, A., O. Onagbesan, K. Tona, S. Metayer, J. Putterflam, Y. Jego, J. J. Trevidy, E.
 Decuypere, J. Williams, M. Picard, and V. Bruggeman. 2004. Effects of *ad libitum*feeding on performance of different strains of broiler breeders. British Poultry Science.
 45: 695-703.
- Hocking, P. M., A. B. Gilbert, M. Walker, and D. Waddington. 1987. Ovarian follicular structure of white leghorns fed *ad libitum* and dwarf and normal broiler breeders fed *ad libitum* or restricted until point of lay. British Poultry Science. 28: 493-506.
- Hocking, P. M., D. Waddington, M. A. Walker, and A. B. Gilbert. 1989. Control of the development of the ovarian follicular hierarchy in broiler breeder pullets by food restriction during rearing. British Poultry Science. 30: 161-173.
- Hocking, P. M. 2004. Roles of body weight and feed intake in ovarian follicular dynamics in broiler breeders at the onset of lay and after a forced molt. Poultry Science. 83: 2044-2050.
- Hocking, P. M. and G. W. Robertson. 2005. Limited effect of intense genetic selection for broiler traits on ovarian function and follicular sensitivity in broiler breeders at the onset of lay. British Poultry Science. 46: 354-360.
- Hogsette, J. A. Jr., R. A. Voitle, J. B. Thompson III, and R. H. Harms. 1976. Energy utilization by broiler breeders through addition of sand to the diet. Nutritional Reports International. 14: 261-274.
- Horev, G., P. Einat, T. Aharoni, Y. Eshdat, and M. Friedman-Einat. 2000. Molecular cloning and properties of the chicken leptin-receptor (CLEPR) gene. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology. 162: 95-106.

- Houseknecht, K. L. and C. P. Portocarrero. 1998. Leptin and its receptors: regulators of whole-body energy homeostasis. Domestic Animal Endocrinology. 15: 457-475.
- Hudson, B. P., R. J. Lien, and J. B. Hess. 2001. Effects of body weight uniformity and pre-peak feeding programs on broiler breeder hen performance. Journal of Applied Poultry Research. 10: 24-32.
- Isola, J., J. M. Korte, and P. Tuohimaa. 1987. Immunocytochemical localization of progesterone receptor in the chick ovary. Endocrinology. 121: 1034-1040.
- Johnson, A. L., J. T. Bridgham, J. P. Witty, and J. L. Tilly. 1996a. Susceptibility of avian ovarian granulosa cells to apoptosis is dependent upon stage of follicle development and is related to endogenous levels of Bcl-XLONG gene expression. Endocrinology. 137: 2059-2066.
- Johnson, A. L., J. T. Bridgham, and B. Wagner. 1996b. Characterization of a chicken luteinizing hormone receptor (cLH-R) complementary deoxyribonucleic acid, and expression of cLH-R messenger ribonucleic acid in the ovary. Biology of Reproduction. 55: 304-309.
- Johnson, A. L., J. T. Brigham, and T. Jenson. 1999. Bcl-X(LONG) protein expression and phosphorylation in granulosa cells. Endocrinology. 140: 4521-4529.
- Johnson, A. L. 2000. Sturkie's avian physiology: Reproduction in the female. Academic Press. London, England. Pages 569-596.
- Johnson, A. L. and J. T. Bridgham. 2001. Regulation of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein and luteinizing hormone receptor messenger ribonucleic acid in hen granulosa cells. Endocrinology. 142: 3116-3124.

- Johnson, A. L., J. T. Bridgham, and D. C. Woods. 2004. Cellular mechanisms and modulation of activin-A and transforming growth factor beta-mediated differentiation in cultured hen granulosa cells. Biology of Reproduction. 71:1844-1851.
- Johnson, P. A., C. F. Brooks, and A. J. Davis. 2005. Pattern of secretion of immunoreactive inhibin/activin subunits by avian granulosa cells. General and Comparative Endocrinology. 141: 233-239.
- Johnson, P. A., J. R. Woodcock, and T. R. Kent. 2006. Effect of activin and A and inhibin A on expression of the inhibin/activin β-B-subunit and gonadotropin receptors in granulosa cells of the hen. General and Comparative Endocrinology. 147: 102-107.
- Kaiya, H., S. Van der Geyten, M. Kojima, H. Hosoda, Y. Kitajima, M. Matsumoto, S.Geelissen, V. M. Darras, and K. Kangawa. 2002. Chicken ghrelin: Purification, cDNA cloning, and biological activity. Endocrinology. 143: 3454-3463.
- Kaiya, H., E. S. Saito, T. Tachibana, M. Furuse, and K. Kangawa. 2007. Changes in ghrelin levels of plasma and proventriculus and ghrelin mRNA of proventriculus in fasted and refed layer chicks. Domestic Animal Endocrinology. 32: 247-259.
- Katanbaf, M. N., E. A. Dunnington, P. B. Siegel. 1989. Restricted feeding in early and late-feathering chickens. 1. Growth and physiological responses. Poultry Science. 68: 344-351.
- Katz, I. A., R. P. Millar, and J. A. King. 1990. Differential regional distribution and release of two forms of gonadotropin-releasing hormone in the chicken brain. Peptides. 11: 443-450.

- Kobayashi, M., and S. Ishii. 2002. Effects of starvation on gonadotropin and thyrotropin subunit mRNA levels in the male Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*).

 Zoological Science. 19: 331-342.
- Kochan, Z., J. Karbowska, and W. Meissner. 2006. Leptin is synthesized in the liver and adipose tissue of the dunlin (*Calidris alpina*). General and Comparative Endocrinology. 148: 336-339.
- Korbonits, M., A. P. Goldstone, M. Gueorquiev, and A. B. Grossman. 2004. Ghrelin—a hormone with multiple functions. Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology. 25: 27-68.
- Kowalski, K. I., J. L. Tilly, and A. L Johnson. 1991. Cytochrome P450 side chain cleavage (P450scc) in the hen ovary. 1. Regulation of P450scc messenger RNA levels and steroidogenesis in theca cells of developing follicles. Biology of Reproduction. 45: 955-966.
- Krishnan, K. A., J. A. Proudman, D. J. Bolt, and J. M. Bahr. 1993. Development of an homologous radioimmunoassay for chicken follicle-stimulating hormone and measurement of plasma FSH during the ovulatory cycle. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Comparative Physiology. 105: 729-734.
- Krummen, L. A., T. K. Woodruff, G. DeGuzman, E. T. Cox, D. L. Baly, E. Mann, S. Garg, W. –L. Wong, P. Cassum, and J. P. Mather. 1993. Identification and characterization of binding proteins for inhibin and activin in human serum and follicular fluids. Endocrinology. 132: 431-443.
- Kubikova, L., P. Vyboh, and L. Kostal. 2001. Behavioural, endocrine and metabolic effects of food restriction in broiler breeder hens. Acta Vet Brno. 70: 247-257.

- Lee, K. A. and J. M. Bahr. 1989. Inhibitory sites of androgens and estradiol in progesterone biosynthesis in granulosa cells of the domestic hen. Endocrinology. 125: 760-765.
- Lee, K. A. and J. M. Bahr. 1990. Inhibition of the activities of P450 cholesterol sidechain cleavage and 3 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase and the amount of P450 cholesterol side-chain cleavage by testosterone and estradiol-17 beta in hen granulosa cells. Endocrinology. 126: 779-786.
- Lee, K. A. and J. M. Bahr. 1993. Utilization of substrates for testosterone and estradiol-17β production by small follicles of the chicken ovary. Domestic Animal Endocrinology. 11: 307-314.
- Li, Z. and A. L. Johnson. 1993. Regulation of P450 cholesterol side-chain cleavage messenger ribonucleic acid expression and progesterone production in hen granulosa cells. Biology of Reproduction. 49: 463-469.
- Lien, R. J., and T. D. Siopes. 1989. Turkey plasma thyroid hormone and prolactin concentrations throughout an egg laying cycle in relation to photorefractoriness. Poultry Science. 68: 1409-1417.
- Lordelo, M. M., A. J. Davis, J. L. Wilson, and N. M. Dale. 2004. Cottonseed meal diets improve body weight uniformity in broiler breeder pullets. The Journal of Applied Poultry Research. 13: 191-199.
- Lovell, T. M., R. T. Gladwell, F. J. Cunningham, N. P. Groome, and P. G. Knight. 1998.

 Differential changes in inhibin A, activin A, and total α-subunit levels in granulosa and thecal layers of developing preovulatory follicles in the chicken. Endocrinology. 139: 1164-1171.

- Lovell, T. M., P. G. Knight, N. P. Groome, and R. T. Gladwell. 2000. Measurement of dimeric inhibins and effects of active immunization against inhibin α-subunit on plasma hormones and testis morphology in the developing cockerel. Biology of Reproduction. 63: 213-221.
- Lovell, T. M., R. T. Gladwell, N. P. Groome, and P. G. Knight. 2003. Ovarian follicle development in the laying hen is accompanied by divergent changes in inhibin A, inhibin B, activin A and follistatin production in granulosa and theca layers. Journal of Endocrinology. 177: 45-55.
- Marrone, B. L. and F. Hertelendy. 1985. Decreased androstenedione production with increased follicular maturation in theca cells from the domestic hen (*Gallus domesticus*). Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 74: 543-550.
- Mather, J. P., P. E. Roberts, and L. A. Krummen. 1993. Follistatin modulates activin activity in a cell- and tissue-specific manner. Endocrinology. 132:2732-2734.
- Mather, J. P., A. Moore, and R. H. Li. 1997. Activins, inhibins, and follistatins: further thoughts on a growing family of regulators. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental and Medicine. 215: 209-222.
- McDaniel, G. R., J. Brake, and R. D. Bushong. 1981. Factors affecting broiler breeder performance. 1. Relationship of daily feed intake level to reproductive performance of pullets. Poultry Science 60:307-312.
- Melnychuk, V. L., J. D. Kirby, Y. K. Kirby, D. A. Emerson, and N. B. Anthony. 2004.
 Effect of strain, feed allocation program, and age at photostimulation on reproductive development and carcass characteristics of broiler breeder hens. Poultry Science. 83:
 1861-1867.

- Metayer, S., S. Tesseraud, S. Cassy, M. Taouis, J. Williams, M. Picard, and N. Rideau.

 2006. Is there peripheral or ovarian insulin action alteration in broiler breeder hens fed ad libitum? Poultry Science. 85: 1098-1103.
- Michel, U., P. Farnworth, and J. K. Findlay. 1993. Follistatins: more than follicle stimulating hormone suppressing proteins. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology. 91:1-11.
- Millam, J. R., M. A. Ottinger, C. B. Craig-Veit, Y. Fan, and Y. Chaiseha. 1998. Multiple forms of GnRH are released from perifused medial basal hypothalamic/preoptic (MBH/POA) explants in birds. General and Comparative Endocrinology. 111: 95-101.
- Moreau, J. D., D. G. Satterlee, J. J. Rejman, G. G. Cadd, K. G. Kousoulas, and W. C. Fioretti. 1998. Active immunization of Japanese quail hens with a recombinant chicken inhibin fusion protein enhances production performance. Poultry Science. 77: 894-901.
- Nakamura, T., K. Takio, Y. Eto, H. Shibai, K. Titani, and H. Sugino. 1990. Activin-binding protein from rat ovary is follistatin. Science. 247: 836-838.
- Ohkubo, T., M. Tanaka, and K. Nakashima. 2000. Structure and tissue distribution of chicken leptin receptor (cOb-R) mRNA. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 1491: 303-308.
- Onagbesan, O. M., S. Metayer, K. Tona, J. Williams, E. Decuypere, and V. Bruggeman.

 2006. Effects of genotype and feed allowance on plasma luteinizing hormones, folliclestimulating hormones, progesterone, estradiol levels, follicle differentiation, and egg
 production rates of broiler breeder hens. Poultry Science. 85: 1245-1258.
- Paczoska-Eliasiewicz, H. E., A. Gertler, M. Proszkowiec, J. Proudman, A. Hrabia, A. Sechman, M. Mika, T. Jacek, S. Cassy, N. Raver, and J. Rzasa, 2003. Attenuation by leptin of the effects of fasting on ovarian function in hens (*Gallus domesticus*).
 Reproduction. 126: 739-751.

- Palmer, S. S., and J. M. Bahr. 1992. Follicle stimulating hormone increases serum oestradiol-17β concentrations, number of growing follicles and yolk deposition in aging hens (*Gallus domesticus*) with decreased egg production. British Poultry Science. 33: 403-414.
- Petitte, J. N., R. O. Hawes, and R. W. Gerry. 1982. The influence of flock uniformity on the reproductive performance of broiler breeder hens housed in cages and floor pens. Poultry Science. 61: 2166-2171.
- Phillips, D. J., and T. K. Woodruff. 2004. Inhibin: actions and signaling. Growth Factors. 22: 13-18.
- Proudman, J. A., C. G. Scanes, S. A. Johannsen, L. R. Berghman, and M. J. Camp. 2006.

 Comparison of the ability of the three endogenous GnRHs to stimulate release of follicle-stimulating hormone and luteinizing hormone in chickens. Domestic Animal Endocrinology. 31: 141-153.
- Pym, R. A. E., and J. F. Dillon. 1974. Restricted food intake and reproductive performance of broiler breeders pullets. British Poultry Science. 15: 245-259.
- Renema, R. A., F. E. Robinson, M. Newcombe, and R. I. McKay. 1999a. Effects of body weight and feed allocation during sexual maturation in broiler breeder hens. 1. Growth and carcass characteristics. Poultry Science. 78: 619-628.
- Renema, R. A., F. E. Robinson, J. A. Proudman, M. Newcombe, and R. I. McKay.

 1999b. Effects of body weight and feed allocation during sexual maturation in broiler breeders hens. 2. Ovarian morphology and plasma hormone profiles. Poultry Science. 78: 629-639.

- Renema, R. A., and F. E. Robinson. 2004. Defining normal: Comparison of feed restriction and full feeding of female broiler breeders. World's Poultry Science Journal. 60: 508-522.
- Richards, M. P., S. Poch, C. Coon, R. Rosebrough, C. Ashwell, and J. McMurty. 2003.

 Feed restriction significantly alters lipogenic gene expression in broiler breeder chickens.

 Journal of Nutrition. 133: 707-715.
- Richards, M. P., S. M. Poch, and J. P. McMurtry. 2006. Characterization of turkey and chicken ghrelin genes, and regulation of ghrelin and ghrelin receptor mRNA levels in broiler chickens. General and Comparative Endocrinology. 145: 298-310.
- Ritzhaupt, L. K. and J. M. Bahr. 1987. A decrease in FSH receptors of granulosa cells during follicular maturation in the domestic hen. Journal of Endocrinology. 115: 303-310.
- Robbins, K. R., G. C. McGhee, P. Osei, and R. E. Beauchene. 1986. Effect of feed restriction on growth, body composition, and egg production of broiler females through 68 weeks of age. Poultry Science. 65: 2226-2231.
- Robbins, K. R., S. F. Chin, G. C. McGhee, and K. D. Roberson. 1988. Effects of *ad libitum* versus restricted feeding on body composition and egg production of Broiler breeders. Poultry Science. 67: 1001-1007.
- Robinson, F. E. and R. J. Etches. 1986. Ovarian steroidogenesis during follicular maturation in the domestic fowl (*Gallus domesticus*). Biology of Reproduction. 35: 1096-1105.

- Robinson, F. E., R. J. Etches, C. E. Anderson-Langmuir, W. H. Burke, K.-W. Cheng, F. J. Cunningham, S. Ishii, P. J. Sharp, and R. T. Talbot. 1988. Steroidogenic relationships of gonadotrophin hormones in the ovary of the hen (*Gallus domesticus*). General and Comparative Endocrinology. 69: 455-466.
- Robinson, F. E., N. E. Robinson, and T. A. Scott. 1991a. Reproductive performance, growth rate and body composition of full-fed versus feed-restricted broiler breeder hens. Canadian Journal of Animal Science. 71:549-556.
- Robinson, F. E., L. Bouvier, R.G. Charles, J. Clark, F. Dennos, G. M. Fasenko, R. T. Hardin, G. Hinse, R. Karge, B. Kerrigan, M. E. Lupicki, R. H. O'Hara, A. R. Robblee, N. A. Robinson, B. Turner, B. J. Williams, and M. W. Yu. 1991b. Research review:

 Optimizing reproductive efficiency in broiler breeder hens. 70th annual feeders' day report. Agriculture and Forestry Bulletin Special Issue. 6-13.
- Safi, M., N. Buys, O. M. Onagbesan, B Vleugels, and E. Decuypere. 1998. Quantification of inhibin/activin α and β_A subunit messenger ribonucleic acid by competitive reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction in chicken granulosa cells during follicular development. Biology of Reproduction. 59: 1047-1054.
- Sandilands, V., B. J. Tolkamp, and I. Kyriazakis. 2005. Behaviour of food restricted broilers during rearing and lay—effects of an alternative feeding method. Physiology and Behavior. 85: 115-123.
- Senior, B. E. and B. J. Furr. 1975. A preliminary assessment of the source of oestrogen within the ovary of the domestic fowl *Gallus domesticus*. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 43: 241-247.

- Sharp, P. J., R. T. Talbot, G. M. Main, I. C. Dunn, H. M. Fraser, and N. S. Huskisson.

 1990. Physiological roles of chicken LHRH-I and –II in the control of gonadotrophin release in the domestic chicken. Journal of Endocrinology. 124: 291-299.
- Sharp, P. J. 1993. Photoperiodic control of reproduction in the domestic hen. Poultry Science. 72: 897-905.
- Shimonaka, M., S. Inouye, S. Shimasaki, and N. Ling.1991. Follistatin binds to both activin and inhibin through the common beta-subunit. Endocrinology. 128: 3313-3315.
- Sirotkin, A. V., R. Grossman, M. T. Maria-Peon, J. Roa, M. Tena-Sempere, and S. Klein.

 2006. Novel expression and functional role of ghrelin in chicken ovary. Molecular and
 Cellular Endocrinology. 257-258: 15-25.
- Slappey, S. N. and A. J. Davis. 2003. Expression pattern of messenger ribonucleic acid for the activin type II receptors and the inhibin/activin subunits during follicular development in broiler breeder hens. Poultry Science. 82: 338-344.
- Smith, G. D., L. M. Jackson, and D. L. Foster. 2002. Leptin regulation of reproductive function and fertility. Theriogenology. 57: 73-86.
- Taouis, M., J. W. Chen, C. Daviaud, J. Dupont, M. Derouet, and J. Simon. 1998. Cloning the chicken leptin gene. Gene. 208: 239-242.
- Takahashi, T., H. Oqawa, R. Inaba, and M. Kawashima. 2004. Changes in prostaglandin

 F concentration in the uterus (shell gland) of the hen oviduct in relation to oviposition
 and estrogen. Poultry Science. 83: 1745-1749.
- Tena-Sempere, M. 2005. Exploring the role of ghrelin as novel regulator of gonadal function. Growth Hormone and IGF Research. 2: 83-88.

- Tilly, J. L., K. I. Kowalski, and A. L. Johnson. 1991. Stage of ovarian follicular development associated with the initiation of steroidogenic competence in avian granulosa cells. Biology of Reproduction. 44: 305-314.
- Tolkamp, B. J., V. Sandilands, and I. Kyriazakis. 2005. Effects of qualitative feed restriction during rearing on the performance of broiler breeders during rearing and lay. Poultry Science. 84: 1286-1293.
- Ueno, H., H. Yamaguchi, K. Kangawa, and M. Nakazato. 2005. Ghrelin: A gastric peptide that regulates food intake and energy homeostasis. Regulatory Peptides. 126: 11-19.
- Van der Lely, A. J., M. Tschop, M. L. Heiman, and E. Ghigo. 2004. Biological, physiological, pathophysiological, and pharmocological aspects of ghrelin. Endocrine Reviews. 25: 426-457.
- Vulliemoz, N. R., E. Xiao, L. Xia-Zhang, M. Germond, J. Rivier, and M. Ferin. 2004.
 Decrease in luteinizing hormone pulse frequency during a five-hour peripheral ghrelin infusion in the ovariectomized rhesus monkey. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism. 89: 5718-5723.
- Wang, S. Y. and P. A. Johnson. 1993. Increase in ovarian α-inhibin gene expression and plasma immunoreactive inhibin level is correlated with a decrease in ovulation rate in the domestic hen. General and Comparative Endocrinology. 91: 52-58.
- Welt, C., Y. Sidis, H. Keutmann, and A. Schneyer. 2002. Activins, inhibins, and follistatins: From endocrinology to signaling. A paradigm for the new millennium. Experimental Biology and Medicine (Maywood, NJ). 227: 724-752.
- Whitehead, C., and P. Hocking. 1988. Feeding and managing turkeys and broiler breeder hens. Science and the Poultry Industry. pages 6-7.

- Wilson, S. C. and P. J. Sharp. 1976. Effects of androgens, oestrogens and deoxycorticosterone acetate on plasma concentrations of luteinizing hormone in laying hens. Journal of Endocrinology. 69: 93-102.
- Wilson, S. C. and F. J. Cunningham. 1980. Effect of increasing day length and intermittent lighting schedules in the domestic hen on plasma concentrations of luteinizing hormone (LH) and the LH response to exogenous progesterone. General and Comparative Endocrinology.
- Wilson, H. R., D. R. Ingram, F. B. Mather, and R. H. Harms. 1989. Effect of daily restriction and age at initiation of a skip-a-day program for young broiler breeders. Poultry Science. 68: 1442-1446.
- Wilson, S. C., R. T. Gladwell, and F. J. Cunningham. 1990a. Differential responses of hypothalamic LHRH-I and –II to castration and gonadal steroid or tamoxifen treatment in cockerels. Journal of Endocrinology. 125: 139-146.
- Wilson, S. C., R. A. Chairil, F. J. Cunningham, and R. T. Gladwell. 1990b. Changes in the hypothalamic contents of LHRH-I and –II and in pituitary responsiveness to synthetic chicken LHRH-I and –II during the progesterone-induced surge of LH in the laying hen. Journal of Endocrinology. 127: 487-496.
- Wilson, S. C., R. T. Gladwell, and F. J. Cunningham. 1991. Diurnal changes in the plasma concentrations of LH and hypothalamic contents of LHRH-I and LHRH-II in the domestic hen. Journal of Endocrinology. 130: 457-462.
- Woodruff, T. K. 1998. Regulation of cellular and system function by activin.

 Biochemical Pharmacology. 55: 953-963.

- Woodruff, T. K. 2002. Role of inhibins and activins in ovarian cancer. Cancer Treatment and Research. 107: 293-302.
- Woods, D. C. and A. L. Johnson. 2005. Regulation of follicle-stimulating hormonereceptor messenger RNA in hen granulosa cells relative to follicle selection. Biology of Reproduction. 72: 643-650.
- Yoshimura, Y. and J. M. Bahr. 1991. Localization of progesterone receptors in the shell gland of laying and nonlaying chickens. Poultry Science. 70: 1246-1251.
- Yoshimura, T., S. Yasuo, M. Watanabe, M. Iigo, T. Yamamura, K. Hirunagi, and S. Ebihara. 2003. Light-induced hormone conversion of T4 to T3 regulates photoperiodic response of gonads in birds. Nature. 426: 178-181.
- You, S., J. T. Bridgham, D. N. Foster, and A. L. Johnson. 1996. Characterization of the chicken follicle-stimulating hormone receptor (cFSH-R) complementary deoxyribonucleic acid, and expression of cFSH-R messenger ribonucleic acid in the ovary. Biology of Reproduction. 55: 1055-1062.
- Yu, M. W., F. E. Robinson, R. G. Charles, and R. Weingardt. 1992a. Effect of feed allowance during rearing and breeding on female broiler breeders. 2. Ovarian morphology and production. Poultry Science. 71: 1750-1761.
- Yu, M. W., F. E. Robinson, and R. J. Etches. 1992b. Effect of feed allowance during rearing and breeding on female broiler breeders. 3. Ovarian Steroidogenesis. Poultry Science. 71: 1762-1767.
- Zieba, D. A., M. Amstalden, and G. L. Williams. 2005. Regulatory roles of leptin in reproduction and metabolism: A comparative review. Domestic Animal Endocrinology. 29: 166-185.

Zuidhof, M. J., F. E. Robinson, J. J. R. Feddes, R. T. Hardin, J. L. Wilson, R. I. McKay, and M. Newcombe. 1995. The effects of nutrient dilution on the well-being and performance of female broiler breeders. Poultry Science. 74: 441-456.

3. STATEMENT OF PURPOSE

Broiler breeder pullets are typically reared using a quantitative feed restriction program to prevent them from gaining too much body weight before reaching sexual maturity. Broiler breeder pullets that are not feed restricted during rearing will not only become over weight, but will also have less uniform flock body weights, reach puberty at an earlier age, and lay fewer total eggs, than pullets that are feed restricted during rearing.

After photostimulation for reproduction, broiler pullets are still feed restricted and this restriction continues throughout their production cycle to prevent excessive body fat accumulation once the birds have reached a mature body size. By preventing obesity the birds will produce more eggs and these eggs will have a higher fertility rate. Because sexually maturing broiler breeders should not be fed ad libitum in commercial settings they are almost exclusively fed their total allotment of fed once a day and in some cases during the early lay period once every two days. The birds consume the available feed within a couple of hours and thus have a substantial fasting period between feedings. Previous research from our laboratory indicated that the extended fasting period associated with continuing a skip a day feeding program after photostimulation until 5 percent egg production was very detrimental to total egg production. Broiler breeder pullets that were placed on a once a day feeding program after photostimulation produced 19 more total eggs per bird than those that were given the same amount of total feed but were maintained on a skip a day feeding program until 5 percent egg production was reached at which point they were switched to the once a day feeding program. Interestingly, the average gain of 19 eggs per bird resulted from a cumulative gain in egg

production throughout the production cycle which ended when the birds were 65 weeks of age. Thus, the longer fasting periods during the early production period in the skip a day birds permanently altered their reproductive performance capabilities. Therefore, the goal of the current research is to determine if reproductive performance of broiler breeder hens can be improved by splitting the daily feed allotment offered during the entire breeding period into two feeding periods separated by 8.5 hours.

CHAPTER 4

INFLUENCE OF A TWICE A DAY FEEDING REGIMEN AFTER

PHOTOSTIMULATION ON THE REPRODUCTIVE PERFORMANCE OF BROILER

BREEDER HENS¹

¹Spradley, J. M., M. E. Freeman, J. L. Wilson, and A. J. Davis.

To be submitted to *Poultry Science*

ABSTRACT In a commercial setting broiler breeders are typically provided a restricted amount of feed once a day, and this feed is rapidly consumed leaving the birds to fast for extended periods of time before their next feeding. In the current research the effects on reproductive performance of implementing a twice a day (2x) versus a once a day (1x) feeding program after photostimulation were investigated. Pullets and cockerels were reared using a skip a day feeding program. All pullets were weighed at 20 wk of age and then distributed into 30 laying pens such that each pen had a similar body weight distribution. Each individual laying pen consisted of 35 hens and 4 roosters. At 21 wk of age the birds were photostimulated for reproduction and 15 of the laying pens were placed on a 1x feeding schedule while the other 15 pens were placed on a 2x feeding schedule. The total amount of feed provided per day to all the laying pens was the same but the birds fed 1x received all of their feed at 6:30 a.m., while the birds fed 2x received 60% of their total feed allotment at 0630 h and the other 40% at 1500 h. Even though both treatment groups began egg production at the end of week 23, the birds fed 2x laid significantly $(P \le 0.05)$ more eggs through 42 wk of age than those fed 1x. Additionally, the average egg weight for the entire production period until the birds were 60 wk of age was greater for the hens fed 2x versus 1x. Overall body weight uniformity for the entire laying period was significantly better for hens fed 2x versus 1x. Cumulative mortality was significantly higher, however, for hens fed 2x than those fed 1x. The results indicate that providing broiler breeder hens feed 2x after photostimulation can enhance reproductive performance during the early lay period.

KEYWORDS: broiler breeder hen, twice a day feeding, egg production

INTRODUCTION

The typical poultry industry practice of feed restricting broiler breeder hens decreases body weight gain (Robbins *et al.*, 1986; Katanbaf *et al.*, 1989; Bruggeman *et al.*, 1999, 2005; Onagbesan *et al.*, 2006), delays the onset of sexual maturity (Robbins *et al.*, 1986; Yu *et al.*, 1992; Heck *et al.*, 2004; Bruggeman *et al.*, 2005; Hocking and Robertson, 2005; Onagbesan *et al.*, 2006) and decreases mortality (Robbins *et al.*, 1986; Katanbaf *et al.*, 1989; Heck *et al.*, 2004 Bruggeman *et al.*, 2005). In addition, feed restriction during the rearing and the laying period reduces the number of large follicles on the ovary of broiler breeder hens (Hocking *et al.*, 1987; 1989; Heck *et al.*, 2004; Hocking and Robertson, 2005). But more importantly, broiler breeder hens which have been feed restricted produce more eggs (Yu *et al.* 1992; Heck *et al.*, 2004; Bruggeman *et al.*, 2005; Onagbesan *et al.*, 2006) lay longer sequences (Robinson *et al.*, 1991), persist in lay longer (Fattori *et al.*, 1991), lay fewer abnormal eggs and have fewer multiple ovulations in a single day (Fattori *et al.*, 1991; Yu *et al.*, 1992; Heck *et al.*, 2004) compared to full-fed broiler breeder hens.

Despite the improvement in egg production of broiler breeder hens resulting from feed restriction programs, these hens still have inferior total egg production compared to commercial layer strain hens. Interestingly, total egg production in broiler breeder hens may be depressed as a result of poultry industry feed restriction practices. Broiler breeder hens are typically provided feed once a d during reproduction. This feed is quickly consumed by the hens and thus they will fast for a significant portion of each d. Morris and Nalbandov (1961) suggested that the lack of gonadotropin secretion from the pituitary was responsible for the loss of egg production in fasted birds. Subsequently Scanes *et al.* (1976) reported that plasma LH concentrations were

significantly depressed in 6 wk old male chicks fasted for 12 h compared to control fed cockerels. In addition, fasted laying hens have lower plasma concentrations of LH after 48 h of fasting and lower estradiol and progesterone concentrations after 24 h of fasting compared to *ad libitum* fed control hens (Tanabe *et al.*, 1981). Based on these previous reports, the reproductive capability of chickens may be compromised by even short term fasting. Therefore, the goal of the current research is to determine if reproductive performance of broiler breeder hens can be improved by splitting the feed allotment offered each d during the entire breeding period into two feeding periods separated by 8.5 h instead of offering the feed allotment once a d as is typically done in a commercial setting.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

At one d of age 1,300 Cobb 500 slow-feathering pullets were randomly divided among 4 rooms and 500 Cobb cockerels were divided among 2 rooms. The rooms measured 7.32 m x 9.14 m, and had pine shavings for litter. The rooms were environmentally controlled, with a temperature maintained at 32.2° C for the first wk, and then the temperature was decreased by about 2.8° C every wk thereafter until a target temperature of 21° C was reached. From 1-3 d of age the chicks were given 24 h of light per d and then from 4-14 d of age the amount of light was decreased from 24 to 8 h per d. The 8 h per d lighting schedule was then maintained until the birds reached 21 wk of age. All birds were fed a standard corn/soy diet (Table 1) *ad libitum* from 0-2 wk of age, and then fed a developer diet (Table 1) from 2-23 wk of age. From 2 to 21 wk of age the birds were feed restricted and fed on a skip a day (every other day) basis. Feed was distributed by automatic chain feeders, and the birds were given *ad libitum* access to water

from nipple drinkers. A random selection of 10% of the birds from each room was weighed every wk to adjust feed allocations so that BWG of the pullets and cockerels matched the recommended guidelines of the primary breeder. All pullets were wing-banded for identification purposes. All animal procedures were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Georgia.

At 20 wk of age all the pullets were weighed. Pullets were selected and assigned to 30 laying pens to assure the weight profile in each pen was similar. Each laying pen contained 35 pullets and 4 roosters. Each pen measured 3.65 m x 2.75 m and consisted of 2/3 litter and 1/3 elevated slats, and had one six-hole nest box located in the slat area. Each pen contained 3 hen feeder pans which were fitted with rooster exclusion grills. The feeding system provided 9.14 cm of feeder space per hen. Males were given their own feeder pan which was elevated in height to prevent females from consuming their feed. The male to female ratio was kept between 10-11% throughout the experiment by replacing male mortality from a pool of extra males. Per standard industry practice, when the hens were 50 wk of age 26 wk old males from another flock were added to the pens to stimulate mating and assure continued fertility. Subsequent male mortality replacements came from this younger male flock.

Photostimulation occurred at 21 wk of age by providing 14 h of light, and this length of light was continued each d through 60 wk of age. At 21 wk of age the birds in half of the 30 pens were switched from the skip a day feeding to 1x feeding, while the remaining pullets in the other 15 pens were switched to 2x feeding. The birds for the 1x feeding treatment received all of their feed every day at 0630 h, while the birds for the 2x treatment received 60% of their total daily feed allotment at 0630 h and 40% at 1500 h. The birds in both treatments received the same total amount of daily feed. Roosters were fed their daily allotment of feed at 0630 h. At 23

wk of age the birds were switched to a breeder layer diet (Table 1). Before the layer diet was pelleted, 100 g of rice hulls were added per kg of diet to increase feed volume to ensure all the birds fed 2x had access to feed at the 1500 h feeding. The rice hulls were considered not to add any significant nutrient value to the diet for purposes of calculating daily nutrient intake.

All mortality was recorded and necropsies were performed on all hen mortality from 23-60 wk of age. Birds were weighed weekly before the morning feeding from 21-40 wk of age and every other wk from 42-60 wk of age. A rotating sample of 5 of the 15 pens per treatment was weighed during each weigh period which allowed for individual pens to be weighed every 3 weigh periods. All birds were weighed at 21, 32, 40, 52, and 59 wk to accurately determine whole flock body weight uniformity. Eggs were manually collected 3-4 times per d. Hen housed and hen day egg production were calculated weekly from daily egg counts and the number of hatchable, abnormal, cracked, double yolked, dirty, and total eggs was recorded daily for each pen.

Ninety hatching eggs (eggs not abnormal in shape, cracked, double yolked, dirty, or surrounded by only shell membranes and no shell) from each pen were collected and stored at 18.3-19.9° C for no more than 7 d every other week when the hens were between 26 and 41 wk of age and then every 4 wk thereafter. Eggs were incubated at 37.8° C with 53% relative humidity d 0-18, and then at 37.2° C with 70% relative humidity d 19-21. Eggs were candled on d 12 of incubation and transferred for hatching on d 19. During candling, transfer, and after hatching, eggs were characterized as being infertile, cracked, contaminated, containing early dead embryos (less than 7 d), mid dead embryos (7-14 d), or late dead embryos (15-21 d). Eggs cracked during transfer to the hatcher were removed from the data set as lost eggs. After hatching the number of live and dead pips and live and dead chicks were determined.

Beginning when the birds were 26 wk of age, all hatching eggs from two d of production were weighed every other week. Specific gravities were determined using the saline flotation method (Phillips and Williams, 1943) on 20 eggs per pen from one production day every other week when the hens were 30-40 wk of age, and then once every 4 wk thereafter. Also, when the hens were 46 wk of age, all hatching eggs produced by the hens of each pen over a 2 d period were individually weighed and then the weight of the individual components (shell, albumen, and yolk) of each egg were determined.

Statistical Analyses

Data were subjected to ANOVA according to the General Linear Model procedure in order to detect significant differences between the 1x and 2x feeding treatments. All statistical procedures were done with the Minitab Statistical Software package (Release 13, State College, PA). Differences were considered significant when *P*-values were < 0.05.

RESULTS

Weekly differences in BW between the birds fed 1x and 2x were not significantly different during most of the experiment (Table 2). For the few weeks in which the differences in BW were significant, body weights were higher in hens fed 2x than the hens fed 1x during the first half of the experimental period. However, for the weeks in which the differences in BW were significant during the second half of the experimental period, it was the hens fed 2x that weighed more than the hens fed 1x. For the entire experimental period the difference in BW was only 13 g (mean \pm SEM values were 3,555 \pm 57 and 3,568 \pm 59 g/hen for the birds fed 1x and

2x, respectively), but this small difference was statistically significant (P = 0.016). After wk 22 of age the weekly CV of BW was significantly lower for the hens fed 2x versus those fed 1x in wks 27, 29, 30, 32, 33, 38, and 40 (Table 2). The weekly trend in the CV for BW resulted in a highly significant (P = 0.0001) overall improvement in BW uniformity for the hens fed 2x versus 1x. The mean \pm SEM CV for BW for the entire experimental period was 9.22 ± 0.08 and 8.49 ± 0.09 for the birds fed 1x and 2x, respectively.

The hens fed 1x and 2x began producing eggs during wk 23 of age, reached 25% egg production during wk 25 of age and reached 50% production during wk 26 of age (Table 3). For the hens fed 2x, hen day egg production peaked at 78.64% at 29 wk of age while the hens fed 1x peaked at 74.84% at wk 30 of age. Hen day egg production was generally significantly higher in the hens fed 2x compared to the hens fed 1x in the first half of the experimental period (Table 3); however, this trend did not continue during the last half of the experimental period. Nonetheless, the overall percent hen day egg production was significantly greater (58 versus 56 percent) for the hens fed 2x compared to the hens fed 1x. Through 41 wk of age total hen day egg production was also significantly (P < 0.01) higher (83 versus 78 eggs/bird) for the hens fed 2x compared to those fed 1x. At the end of the experiment the hens fed 2x produced 149 eggs/hen compared to 145 eggs/hen for the hens fed 1x. This difference was not significant.

Cumulative mortality at the end of the experiment was significantly higher in the birds fed 2x compared to those fed 1x (Table 4). Necropsy records indicated that 75% of the hens that died in the 1x treatment group were either out of lay (regressed ovary) or going out of lay (multiple regressing hierarchical follicles). In contrast, of the total number of hens that died in the 2x treatment, 63% of them were in active lay (normal ovarian hierarchy and/or egg in oviduct) while 37% were out of lay or going out of lay. Given the higher mortality of the birds in

the 2x treatment, it is not surprising that hen housed egg production was sometimes significantly higher for the hens fed 1x versus 2x for some of the individual wk of production during the last half of the experiment (Table 3). However, since hen housed egg production was significantly higher for some of the wk in the first part of the experimental period for the hens fed 2x, total hen housed egg production was not significantly different through 41 wk of age (78 versus 79 eggs per hen on the 1x and 2x treatments, respectively) or through 59 wk of age (140 versus 137 eggs per hen on the 1x and 2x treatments, respectively).

The percent of hatching eggs out of the total number of eggs produced each wk by the hens fed 2x was at times significantly greater than the percent of hatching eggs produced by the hens fed 1x (Table 5). For the entire production period, the hens fed 2x produced a significantly (P < 0.001) greater $(92.45 \pm 0.28 \text{ versus } 91.13 \pm 0.31)$ percentage of hatching eggs of total eggs produced than the hens fed 1x. The increased production of hatching eggs by the hens fed 2x compared to those fed 1x was due to the difference in the production of dirty eggs by the hens in the two feeding treatments. Typically, each wk the hens fed 1x tended to produce more dirty eggs than the hens fed 2x (Table 5). For the entire egg production period of the experiment, the hens fed 1x had a significantly (P < 0.001) greater $(5.07 \pm 0.21 \text{ versus } 3.94 \pm 0.24)$ percentage of dirty eggs of the total eggs produced than the hens fed 2x. The weekly proportion of cracked eggs, membrane eggs, and double yolked eggs produced by the hens in both feeding treatments were generally the same (Table 6), and for the entire production period there were no differences in these egg types between the two feeding treatments (data not shown).

Biweekly egg weights were significantly greater for the hens fed 2x compared to those fed 1x except on wk 28, 56 and 58 (Table 7). For the entire experimental period the mean \pm SEM egg weight was 67.87 ± 0.33 and 68.84 ± 0.34 g for the hens fed 1x and 2x, respectively.

This overall difference in egg weight between the two treatments was significant ($P \le 0.001$). Eggs produced by the hens from the two feeding treatments when they were 46 wk of age did not differ significantly in their percentage of albumen, yolk and shell (Table 9). The specific gravities of the eggs produced by the hens from the two feeding treatments also did not differ significantly (Table 8).

Fertility and hatchability of eggs produced by the hens fed either 1x or 2x were not significantly different (Table 10). The cumulative difference in hatchability and fertility between the two feeding treatments was also not significantly different (data not shown). The only significant difference in the hatchability of fertile eggs between the two treatments occurred at wk 60 (Table 10), but the overall hatchability of fertile eggs did not differ between the two treatments (data not shown). The incidence of early dead, mid dead and late dead embryos as well as the incidence of live and dead pips in the eggs incubated during the experiment, was also similar for the two feeding treatments with only two exceptions (Table 11).

DISCUSSION

The present study indicates that feeding broiler breeder hens 2x rather than 1x improves egg production from the initiation of lay through peak egg production. Cave (1981) reported that feeding broiler breeder hens 3 times a day increased the percent hen day egg production in the first 10 wk period of the production cycle when compared to hens fed once or twice a day. Hens fed once, twice, or 3 times a day did not vary in percent hen day egg production. Similarly, de Avila *et al.* (2003a, b) did not observe a difference in total egg production through 66 wk of age between broiler breeder hens fed 1x and 2x. De Avila *et al.* (2003a) did report that the time to

5% egg production was shorter for the flock fed 2x, but the age at first egg and the age to reach 50% production did not vary between the hens fed 1x and 2x (de Avila *et al.*, 2003b).

An even greater difference in overall egg production between the hens fed 1x and 2x in the present research may have been achieved if mortality had not been different between the two treatments. Mortality was high for both treatments based on breeder guidelines (Cobb, 2005), but comparable to the 17.1 % mortality reported for commercial practice in the US during the breeding period (Agristats, 2007) and actually lower than what has been experienced in previous experiments with slow feathering breeder strains (Hudson et al., 2004). However, by the end of the experiment the birds fed 2x had experienced a significantly higher level mortality than those fed 1x. More importantly 67% of the hens that died in the 2x treatment were still producing eggs prior to their deaths compared to only 25% of the hens still producing eggs in the 1x feeding treatment. Possibly the resources needed to produce more eggs when the hens were fed 2x resulted in the greater loss of egg producing hens in the 2x treatment, but the loss of these hens was very detrimental to overall egg production. Further research is needed to determine if feeding hens 2x is detrimental to livability or if this finding was a peculiarity to the specific strain of hens utilized for this experiment. Cave (1981) and de Avila (2003b) using different strains of broiler breeder hens than were used in the present research did not report an increase in mortality when feeding broiler breeder hens 2x.

The decision to split the daily feed allotment into a 60:40 ratio was based on assuring there was a sufficient volume of feed at both feeding times to minimize competition amongst the birds. Furthermore since the start of the experiment was occurring in the summer, a slightly lower proportion of the feed was provided for the afternoon feeding (1500 h) than the morning feeding (0630 h) in order to have slightly less heat generated in the hottest part of the day

associated with increased feeding and metabolic activity. For their research de Avila *et al*. (2003a, b) split the daily feed allotment equally and fed half of the feed allotment at 0630 h and the other half at 1530 h. Cave (1981) took a different approach and fed 34 percent of the daily feed allotment at 0500 h and the remainder of the feed allotment was fed 4 h before the lights went out. Surprisingly, despite concern in the present experiment that flock body weight uniformity might be difficult to control by splitting the daily feed allotment into 2 feeding periods compared to one feeding, the birds fed 2x actually had better body weight uniformity than the birds fed 1x. Neither Cave (1981) nor de Avila *et al*. (2003a, b) reported findings on body weight uniformity.

The increase in egg size of about one g for hens fed 2x compared to 1x observed in the current research is consistent with the earlier report by Cave (1981). The increase in egg size may be related to providing feed later in the day rather than feeding 2x. Broiler breeder hens provided feed 1x in the afternoon produce larger eggs than those provided feed 1x in the morning (Farmer *et al.*, 1983; Brake and Peebles, 1986). In the current research, the increase in egg size resulted from an increase in all the major individual components of the egg. Egg shell quality (based on specific gravity measurements) was not compromised in the larger sized eggs produced by the hens fed 2x.

Feeding the hens 2x significantly reduced the production of dirty eggs. Possibly the increased physical activity associated with receiving feed 2x promoted the production of less floor eggs which are also typically more prone to becoming dirty. Both the female feeder pans and nest boxes were located in the slat area of our pens and thus the hens on the 2x feeding treatment may have spent more time on the slats than the hens on the 1x feeding treatment. Providing feed in the afternoon did not appear to interfere with mating behavior since egg

fertility was not different between the hens fed 1x and 2x. Finally, the proportion of total eggs collected before and after 1500 h was equivalent for both treatments (data not shown), so the additional afternoon feeding did not shift the timing of oviposition.

In summary, feeding broiler breeder hens 2x improved the total number of eggs produced per hen through 42 wk of age and the overall percent hen day egg production through 59 wk of age. However, these gains in egg production were lost on a hen housed basis due to the significantly higher level of mortality associated with feeding broiler breeder hens 2x after photostimulation for reproduction through 59 wks of age. Feeding broiler breeder hens twice a day increased egg weight without compromising shell quality, decreased the production of dirty eggs, and had no effect on fertility. Further research with different strains of broiler breeder hens is needed before a definitive recommendation on the utility of feeding broiler breeder hens 2x can be made.

REFERENCES

- Agri Stats, Inc. 2007. Live Production Analysis Manual. Agri Stats, Inc., Fort Wayne, IN.
- Brake, J. and E. D. Peebles. 1986. Effect of strain and time of day of feeding on reproductive performance and shell quality of broiler breeders. Poultry Science. 65: 156 (Abstract).
- Bruggeman, V., O. Onagbesan, E. D'Hondt, N. Buys, M. Safi, D. Vanmontfort, L.
 Berghman, F. Vandesande, and E. Decuypere. 1999. Effects of timing and duration of feed restriction during rearing on reproductive characteristics in broiler breeder females.
 Poultry Science. 78: 1424-1434.
- Bruggeman, V., O. Onagbesan, O. Ragot, S. Metayer, S. Cassy, F. Favreau, Y. Jego, J. J. Trevidy, K. Tona, J. Williams, E. Decuypere, and M. Picard. 2005. Feed allowance—genotype interactions in broiler breeder hens. Poultry Science. 84: 298-306.
- Cave, N.A. 1981. Effect of diurnal programs of nutrient intake on the performance of broiler breeder hens. Poultry Science. 60: 1287-1292.
- Cobb 500 Slow Feather Breeder Management Supplement. 2005. Cobb-Vantress Inc. Siloam Springs, Arkansas.
- Cobb Breeder Management Guide. 2005. Cobb-Vantress Inc. Siloam Springs, Arkansas.
- De Avila, V. S., A. M. Penz Jr., P. S. Rosa, P. A. R. de Brum, A. L. Guidoni, and M. C. Ledur. 2003a. Influence of feeding time on sexual maturity and carcass composition in female broiler breeders. Brazilian Journal of Poultry Science. 5: 189-196.

- De Avila, V. S., A. M. Penz Jr., P. A. R. de Brum, P. S. Rosa, A. L. Guidoni, and E. A. P. de Figueiredo. 2003b. Performance of female broiler breeders submitted to different feeding schedules. Brazilian Journal of Poultry Science. 5: 197-202.
- Farmer, M., D. A. Roland, Sr., and M. K. Eckman. 1983. Calcium metabolism in broiler breeder hens. 2. The influence of the time of feeding on calcium status of the digestive system and egg shell quality in broiler breeders. Poultry Science. 62: 465-471.
- Fattori, T. R., H. R. Wilson, R. H. Harms, and R. D. Miles. 1991. Response of broiler breeder females to feed restriction below recommended levels. 1. Growth and reproductive performance. Poultry Science. 70: 26-36.
- Heck, A., O. Onagbesan, K. Tona, S. Metayer, J. Putterflam, Y. Jego, J. J. Trevidy, E.
 Decuypere, J. Williams, M. Picard, and V. Bruggeman. 2004. Effects of *ad libitum*feeding on performance of different strains of broiler breeders. British Poultry Science.
 45: 695-703.
- Hocking, P. M., A. B. Gilbert, M. Walker, and D. Waddington. 1987. Ovarian follicular structure of white leghorns fed *ad libitum* and dwarf and normal broiler breeders fed *ad libitum* or restricted until point of lay. British Poultry Science. 28: 493-506.
- Hocking, P. M., D. Waddington, M. A. Walker, and A. B. Gilbert. 1989. Control of the development of the ovarian follicular hierarchy in broiler breeder pullets by food restriction during rearing. British Poultry Science. 30: 161-173.
- Hocking, P. M. and G. W. Robertson. 2005. Limited effect of intense genetic selection for broiler traits on ovarian function and follicular sensitivity in broiler breeders at the onset of lay. British Poultry Science. 46: 354-360.

- Hudson, B. P., W. A. Dozier, III, J. L. Wilson, J. E. Sander, and T. L. Ward. 2004.
 Reproductive performance and immune status of caged broiler breeder hens provided diets supplemented with either inorganic or organic sources of zinc from hatching to 65 wk of age. Journal of Applied Poultry Research. 13: 349-359.
- Katanbaf, M. N., E. A. Dunnington, P. B. Siegel. 1989. Restricted feeding in early and late-feathering chickens. 1. Growth and physiological responses. Poultry Science. 68: 344-351.
- Morris, T. R. and A. V. Nalbandov. 1961. The induction of ovulation in starving pullets using mammalian and avian gonadotropins. Endocrinology. 68: 687-697.
- Onagbesan, O. M., S. Metayer, K. Tona, J. Williams, E. Decuypere, and V. Bruggeman.

 2006. Effects of genotype and feed allowance on plasma luteinizing hormones, folliclestimulating hormones, progesterone, estradiol levels, follicle differentiation, and egg
 production rates of broiler breeder hens. Poultry Science. 85: 1245-1258.
- Phillips, R. E. and C. S. Williams. 1943. Relationship of specific gravity and shell appearance to the hatchability of fertile turkey eggs. Poultry Science. 23: 110-113.
- Robbins, K. R., G. C. McGhee, P. Osei, and R. E. Beauchene. 1986. Effect of feed restriction on growth, body composition, and egg production of broiler females through 68 weeks of age. Poultry Science. 65: 2226-2231.
- Robinson, F. E., N. E. Robinson, and T. A. Scott. 1991. Reproductive performance, growth rate and body composition of full-fed versus feed-restricted broiler breeder hens. Canadian Journal of Animal Science 71:549-556.

- Scanes, C. G., S. Harvey, and A. Chadwick. 1976. Plasma luteinizing hormone and follicle stimulating hormone concentration in fasted immature male chickens. IRCS Medical Science. 4: 371.
- Tanabe, Y., T. Ogawa, and T. Nakamura. 1981. The effect of short-term starvation on pituitary and plasma LH, plasma estradiol and progesterone, and on pituitary response to LH-RH in the laying hen (*Gallus domesticus*). General and Comparative Endocrinology. 43: 392-398.
- Yu, M. W., F. E. Robinson, R. G. Charles, and R. Weingardt. 1992. Effect of feed allowance during rearing and breeding on female broiler breeders. 2. Ovarian morphology and production. Poultry Science. 71: 1750-1761.

TABLE 1. Composition of the experimental diets.

	•	Diet	
Ingredient	Starter ¹	Developer ²	Layer ³
		% of diet	
Corn	62.95	65.88	70.80
Soybean meal, 48% CP	22.24	15.00	18.11
Poultry Fat	0.00	0.00	0.91
Wheat middlings	10.53	14.83	0.00
Limestone	1.16	1.28	7.33
Dicalcium phosphate	1.75	1.57	1.49
Sodium chloride	0.54	0.60	0.51
Vitamin premix ⁴	0.50	0.50	0.50
DL-Methionine	0.15	0.13	0.15
L-Lysine HCl	0.10	0.13	0.12
Trace mineral premix ⁵	0.08	0.08	0.08
Calculated analysis ⁶			
M. E. (kcal/kg)	2,865.00	2,920.00	2,920.00
Crude protein (%)	18.00	15.00	15.00
Lysine (%)	1.00	0.83	0.83
Calcium (%)	0.91	0.92	3.22
Methionine and cystine (%)	0.73	0.64	0.64
Available phosphorus (%)	0.45	0.42	0.38

¹Starter diet was fed from 0 to 2 wk of age

²Developer diet was fed from 2 to 23 wk of age

³Layer diet was fed from 23 to 60 wk of age. To add more bulk to the layer diet 100 g of rice hulls were added per kg of layer diet before pelleting.

 4 Vitamin premix provided the following per kg of diet: vitamin A, 5,510 IU; vitamin D₃, 1,100 IU; vitamin E, 11 IU; vitamin B₁₂, 0.01 mg; riboflavin, 4.4 mg; niacin, 44.1 mg; d-panthotenic acid, 11.2 mg; choline, 191.3 mg; menadione sodium bisulfate, 3.3 mg; folic acid, 5.5 mg; pyridoxine HCl, 4.7 mg; thiamin, 2.2 mg; d-biotin, 0.11 mg; and ethoxyquin, 125 mg.

⁵Trace mineral premix provided the following in mg per kg of diet: Mn, 60; Zn, 50; Fe, 30; I, 1.5; and Se 0.5.

⁶Calculated analyis was based on Dale (2001).

TABLE 2. Body weight (BW) and coefficient of variation (CV) of BW of broiler breeder hens fed either once a day or twice a day after photostimulation for reproduction¹.

			schedule	chedule		
		Once	a day	Twic	e a day	
Age	n	BW^2	CV^2	BW^2	CV^2	
(week)		(g)		(g)		
20	15	2,111 ± 0	9.44 ± 0.02	2,111 ± 0	9.45 ± 0.02	
21	15	$2,157 \pm 3$	9.78 ± 1.17	2,144 ± 3*	9.80 ± 0.16	
22	5	$2,260 \pm 5$	9.31 ± 0.32	$2,264 \pm 7$	9.04 ± 0.15	
23	5	2,400 ± 7	8.97 ± 0.18	2,403 ± 7	8.82 ± 0.27	
24	5	$2,585 \pm 8$	9.63 ± 0.55	$2,585 \pm 16$	9.05 ± 0.38	
25	5	$2,712 \pm 11$	9.09 ± 0.48	$2,720 \pm 4$	9.56 ± 0.37	
26	5	$2,920 \pm 15$	8.31 ± 0.38	$2,944 \pm 21$	8.03 ± 0.41	
27	5	$3,070 \pm 16$	8.55 ± 0.16	$3,092 \pm 8$	7.16 ± 0.48 *	
28	5	$3,137 \pm 9$	8.52 ± 0.62	$3,118 \pm 11$	8.19 ± 0.51	
29	5	$3,251 \pm 12$	8.48 ± 0.42	$3,263 \pm 18$	7.16 ± 0.35 *	
30	5	$3,418 \pm 38$	8.52 ± 0.57	$3,383 \pm 14$	6.86 ± 0.33 *	
31	5	$3,504 \pm 7$	8.54 ± 0.60	$3,449 \pm 21*$	7.68 ± 0.61	
32	15	$3,586 \pm 12$	8.33 ± 0.31	$3,585 \pm 13$	$7.33 \pm 0.23*$	
33	5	$3,649 \pm 15$	8.62 ± 0.57	$3,661 \pm 19$	6.79 ± 0.30 *	
34	5	$3,692 \pm 24$	8.73 ± 0.46	$3,668 \pm 19$	7.93 ± 0.51	
35	5	$3{,}769 \pm 20$	8.10 ± 0.31	$3,744 \pm 13$	7.93 ± 0.51	
36	5	$3,825 \pm 21$	8.61 ± 0.40	$3,822 \pm 15$	7.78 ± 0.36	

37	5	$3,885 \pm 30$	8.88 ± 0.59	$3,877 \pm 25$	7.36 ± 0.41
38	5	$3,932 \pm 13$	10.19 ± 0.71	3,862 ± 5*	8.00 ± 0.37 *
39	5	$3,966 \pm 24$	8.79 ± 0.54	$3,966 \pm 9$	8.02 ± 0.51
40	15	$4,003 \pm 15$	9.20 ± 0.37	$3,962 \pm 11*$	7.95 ± 0.27 *
42	5	$4,\!076\pm27$	9.65 ± 0.92	$4,088 \pm 20$	7.93 ± 0.88
44	5	$4,117 \pm 31$	10.05 ± 0.05	$4,082 \pm 16$	8.60 ± 0.46
46	5	$4,200 \pm 20$	9.16 ± 0.49	$4,192 \pm 22$	8.99 ± 0.36
48	5	$4,299 \pm 19$	9.06 ± 0.34	$4,341 \pm 15$	8.80 ± 0.78
50	5	$4,303 \pm 36$	9.73 ± 0.56	$4,311 \pm 28$	8.65 ± 0.38
52	15	$4,429 \pm 16$	9.25 ± 0.25	4,501 ± 18*	8.73 ± 0.29
54	4	$4,501 \pm 29$	9.07 ± 0.27	$4,546 \pm 23$	8.49 ± 0.62
56	4	$4,472 \pm 65$	11.09 ± 0.69	$4,535 \pm 45$	9.73 ± 0.20
58	4	$4,637 \pm 24$	10.42 ± 0.43	$4,776 \pm 33*$	9.51 ± 0.48
60	15	$4,676 \pm 24$	10.06 ± 0.35	$4,822 \pm 25*$	9.29 ± 0.36

^{*}Significantly different from the corresponding value for the once a day fed hens, $(P \le 0.05)$.

¹Pullets were moved to laying pens at 20 wk of age and photostimulated for reproduction at 21 wk of age.

 $^{^{2}}$ Values are means \pm SEM, n = 4, 5, or 15 replicate pens of 35 hens each for both feeding treatments. BW values are calculated on a per bird basis. Due to the significant labor involved in weighing all the birds, only one-third of the replicate pens were weighed on a rotating basis for most weeks.

TABLE 3. Hen day egg production (HDEP) and hen housed egg production (HHEP) through 59 weeks of age for broiler breeder hens fed either once a day or twice a day after photostimulation for reproduction.

	Feeding schedule					
	One	ce a day	Twice a day			
Age	HDEP ¹	HHEP ¹	HDEP ¹	HHEP ¹		
week						
23	0.25 ± 0.12	0.25 ± 0.12	0.57 ± 0.16	0.57 ± 0.16		
24	3.73 ± 0.50	3.73 ± 0.50	6.32 ± 0.54 *	6.29 ± 0.55 *		
25	22.51 ± 1.03	22.45 ± 1.02	29.40 ± 1.48*	29.14 ± 1.51*		
26	49.42 ± 1.20	49.22 ± 1.24	57.65 ± 1.25*	56.82 ± 1.17 *		
27	66.06 ± 0.99	65.69 ± 1.02	70.59 ± 0.78 *	69.25 ± 0.81 *		
28	70.79 ± 1.21	70.37 ± 1.30	75.43 ± 1.11 *	73.69 ± 1.24		
29	73.22 ± 1.18	72.52 ± 1.26	$78.64 \pm 1.17*$	76.38 ± 1.35 *		
30	74.84 ± 1.17	73.82 ± 1.30	77.33 ± 1.00	74.18 ± 1.13		
31	73.42 ± 1.34	72.00 ± 1.44	75.86 ± 1.21	72.54 ± 1.36		
32	71.84 ± 0.98	70.37 ± 1.22	$75.68 \pm 1.02*$	72.00 ± 1.03		
33	72.53 ± 1.11	70.78 ± 1.31	75.70 ± 1.10 *	71.73 ± 1.27		
34	71.57 ± 1.28	69.28 ± 1.50	74.51 ± 0.98	70.23 ± 1.10		
35	69.27 ± 0.92	66.83 ± 1.07	$72.32 \pm 0.89*$	68.00 ± 0.85		
36	69.83 ± 1.14	67.32 ± 1.27	71.80 ± 1.26	67.35 ± 1.04		
37	66.44 ± 0.91	63.95 ± 1.05	69.54 ± 1.30	64.90 ± 1.07		
38	66.53 ± 0.85	64.00 ± 1.04	67.64 ± 1.10	62.94 ± 0.97		

39 66.05 ± 0.83 $63.29 \pm$	$= 1.11 \qquad 68.80 \pm 1.04* \qquad 63.73$	± 0.90
40 65.45 ± 0.99 $62.59 \pm$	$= 1.12 \qquad 66.40 \pm 1.01 \qquad 61.14$	± 1.00
41 64.45 ± 1.04 $61.66 \pm$	$= 1.28$ $67.78 \pm 0.98*$ 62.01	± 1.18
42 64.26 ± 1.26 $61.16 \pm$	$= 1.38$ 62.79 ± 1.21 57.28	± 1.18*
43 61.33 ± 0.99 $58.20 \pm$	$= 1.16$ 62.12 ± 1.43 56.44	± 1.20
44 62.51 \pm 1.13 59.21 \pm	$= 1.33$ 61.30 ± 1.25 55.76	± 1.23
45 60.58 ± 1.15 $57.25 \pm$	$= 1.23$ 59.32 ± 1.31 53.93	+ 1.18
46 57.78 ± 1.28 $54.53 \pm$	$= 1.42$ 58.44 ± 1.22 52.68	± 1.18
47 56.07 ± 1.18 $52.73 \pm$	$= 1.25$ 56.06 ± 1.64 50.12	± 1.31
48 56.44 ± 1.67 $52.60 \pm$	$= 1.64$ 55.31 ± 0.80 49.06	± 0.63*
49 55.62 ± 1.46 $51.59 \pm$	$= 1.51$ 55.39 ± 1.34 47.16	± 1.20*
50 54.76 ± 1.04 $50.67 \pm$	$= 1.21$ 52.82 ± 1.01 46.40	± 0.68*
51 52.08 ± 1.28 $47.95 \pm$	$= 1.36$ 51.10 ± 1.27 44.68	± 0.83*
52 51.54 ± 1.22 $47.32 \pm$	$= 1.23$ 50.75 ± 1.20 44.27	± 0.76*
53 50.68 ± 1.31 $46.34 \pm$	$= 1.35$ 48.85 ± 1.16 42.42	± 0.88*
54 48.73 ± 1.23 $44.41 \pm$	$= 1.33 \qquad 48.34 \pm 0.99 \qquad 41.85$	± 0.97
55 46.87 ± 1.30 $42.50 \pm$	$= 1.38$ 46.67 ± 1.35 40.08	± 1.05
56 47.73 ± 1.45 $43.02 \pm$	$= 1.39$ 45.56 ± 1.43 38.97	± 0.88*
57 44.66 ± 1.64 $39.92 \pm$	$= 1.55$ 45.91 ± 1.24 39.07	± 1.41
58 44.35 ± 1.66 $39.07 \pm$	$= 1.41$ 43.49 ± 1.30 36.63	± 1.30
59 42.77 ± 1.68 $37.55 \pm$	$= 1.41$ 44.16 ± 1.90 36.65	± 1.50

^{*}Significantly different from the corresponding value for the once a day fed hens, $(P \le 0.05)$.

 1 Values are means \pm SEM, n = 15 replicate pens of 35 hens for both feeding schedules. HDEP equals the percent of hens in lay corrected for mortality while HHEP equals the percent of hens in lay based on the original number of hens placed in each replicate pen.

TABLE 4. Cumulative mortality of broiler breeder hens from 23 through 59 weeks of age fed either once a day or twice a day after photostimulation at 21 weeks of age¹.

	Feeding Schedule				
Age	Once a day	Twice a day			
Week		/o			
23	0.00 ± 0.00	0.20 ± 0.20			
24	0.19 ± 0.19	0.77 ± 0.34			
25	0.38 ± 0.26	0.77 ± 0.34			
26	0.57 ± 0.31	1.53 ± 0.55			
27	0.57 ± 0.31	2.10 ± 0.71			
28	0.95 ± 0.46	2.29 ± 0.70			
29	1.14 ± 0.47	3.44 ± 0.85 *			
30	1.52 ± 0.47	4.01 ± 0.88 *			
31	2.10 ± 0.65	4.39 ± 0.78 *			
32	2.10 ± 0.65	4.96 ± 0.90 *			
33	3.05 ± 0.65	5.54 ± 0.94 *			
34	3.43 ± 0.75	5.73 ± 0.93			
35	3.62 ± 0.76	5.73 + 0.93			
36	3.62 ± 0.76	6.11 ± 0.83 *			
37	3.81 ± 0.87	6.68 ± 0.91 *			
38	4.19 ± 0.88	6.87 ± 0.87 *			
39	4.38 ± 0.88	7.25 ± 0.88 *			
40	4.38 ± 0.88	8.02 ± 0.98 *			

41	4.76 ± 0.77	8.40 ± 1.06 *
42	4.95 ± 0.76	$8.78 \pm 1.23*$
43	5.33 ± 0.73	$8.78 \pm 1.23*$
44	5.52 ± 0.76	$8.78 \pm 1.23*$
45	5.52 ± 0.76	8.97 ± 1.25 *
46	5.91 ± 0.90	9.93 ± 1.50 *
47	6.48 ± 0.81	10.50 ± 1.62 *
48	7.24 ± 0.88	11.26 ± 1.56 *
49	7.43 ± 0.87	11.45 ± 1.63 *
50	8.00 ± 0.85	$12.03 \pm 1.59*$
51	8.00 ± 0.85	12.03 ± 1.59 *
52	8.38 ± 0.94	12.61 ± 1.60 *
53	8.95 ± 1.00	12.80 ± 1.61 *
54	9.14 ± 1.09	13.56 ± 1.64 *
55	9.71 ± 1.14	13.75 ± 1.71
56	10.48 ± 1.24	13.94 ± 1.65
57	10.86 ± 1.16	14.32 ± 1.83
58	12.00 ± 1.09	16.04 ± 1.87
59	12.00 ± 1.09	17.56 ± 1.95 *

^{*} Significantly different from the corresponding value for the once a day fed hens, $(P \le 0.05)$.

¹Prior to week 23, pullets that died were replaced with spare pullets to maintain all breeder pens at 35 pullets per pen. Values are means \pm SEM, n = 15 replicate pens of 35 hens for each feeding schedule.

TABLE 5. Percent hatching and dirty egg production per week through 59 weeks of age for broiler breeder hens fed either once a day or twice a day after photostimulation for reproduction.

	Feeding schedule							
	Onc	e a day	Twice a day					
Age	Hatching ¹	Dirty ¹	Hatching ¹	Dirty ¹				
week			-%					
23	66.70 ± 23.60	25.0 ± 16.00	80.60 ± 11.60	13.90 ± 11.10				
24	74.19 ± 5.35	10.95 ± 3.92	78.89 ± 3.64	13.45 ± 3.09				
25	78.20 ± 1.98	14.58 ± 1.69	81.91 ± 1.56	11.18 ± 1.50				
26	86.90 ± 0.81	4.86 ± 0.72	88.54 ± 0.89	3.79 ± 0.43				
27	88.92 ± 0.88	5.61 ± 0.88	90.13 ± 0.65	3.44 ± 0.54 *				
28	91.53 ± 0.64	4.47 ± 0.48	92.31 ± 0.70	2.45 ± 0.40 *				
29	89.62 ± 0.90	5.62 ± 0.86	91.78 ± 0.77	3.24 ± 0.50 *				
30	90.52 ± 0.62	4.34 ± 0.46	91.85 ± 0.58	3.06 ± 0.36 *				
31	91.30 ± 0.81	4.79 ± 0.46	93.57 ± 0.70 *	2.87 ± 0.45 *				
32	92.50 ± 0.73	3.67 ± 0.34	93.68 ± 0.60	2.86 ± 0.36				
33	92.93 ± 0.66	3.45 ± 0.53	94.37 ± 0.40	2.51 ± 0.23				
34	91.32 ± 0.74	5.05 ± 0.49	93.46 ± 0.70 *	$3.32 \pm 0.52*$				
35	92.95 ± 0.79	3.80 ± 0.48	94.36 ± 0.44	2.69 + 0.33				
36	91.67 ± 0.91	4.36 ± 0.71	93.47 ± 0.35	3.30 ± 0.33				
37	93.80 ± 0.54	3.20 ± 0.48	93.37 ± 0.83	3.56 ± 0.58				
38	92.75 ± 0.56	4.00 ± 0.38	95.26 ± 0.48 *	$2.23 \pm 0.39*$				

39	93.47 ± 0.42	3.82 ± 0.40	94.92 ± 0.43	2.36 + 0.33*
40	94.27 ± 0.99	1.85 ± 0.42	95.38 ± 0.41	1.82 + 0.38
41	95.12 ± 0.60	3.00 ± 0.42	95.80 ± 0.40	1.97 ± 0.34
42	94.68 ± 0.56	2.64 ± 0.35	95.75 ± 0.38	2.20 ± 0.28
43	93.48 ± 0.49	4.09 ± 0.47	94.61 ± 0.62	3.02 ± 0.46
44	92.65 ± 0.55	4.20 ± 0.50	93.04 ± 0.60	4.25 ± 0.46
45	93.29 ± 0.35	4.82 ± 0.33	94.17 ± 0.62	3.71 ± 0.51
46	93.18 ± 0.78	4.19 ± 0.55	95.17 ± 0.81	3.30 ± 0.66
47	92.40 ± 0.50	5.15 ± 0.36	92.96 ± 0.59	4.15 ± 0.41
48	90.15 ± 0.84	7.52 ± 0.63	91.84 ± 0.95	5.12 ± 0.62 *
49	92.04 + 0.56	4.63 ± 0.55	93.28 ± 0.81	3.72 ± 0.64
50	90.37 ± 1.07	6.23 ± 0.60	92.45 ± 0.71	4.97 ± 0.50
51	94.40 ± 0.91	3.54 ± 0.63	94.53 ± 0.55	2.83 ± 0.35
52	92.47 ± 0.68	5.24 ± 0.70	93.35 ± 0.99	$3.10 \pm 0.42*$
53	94.23 ± 0.66	3.13 ± 0.57	96.20 ± 0.78	1.98 ± 0.52
54	92.53 ± 0.78	5.08 ± 0.57	93.94 ± 0.87	2.73 ± 0.60
55	92.39 ± 0.63	4.00 ± 0.58	93.67 ± 0.88	3.23 ± 0.49
56	87.93 ± 0.94	7.65 ± 0.94	89.60 ± 1.37	5.76 ± 0.91
57	92.63 ± 0.86	4.82 ± 0.72	91.75 ± 0.85	4.20 ± 0.46
58	92.13 ± 0.80	4.37 ± 0.60	93.45 ± 0.60	4.10 ± 0.62
59	93.26 ± 0.70	4.75 ± 0.69	93.96 ± 0.66	3.43 ± 0.52

^{*}Significantly different from the corresponding value for the once a day fed hens, $(P \le 0.05)$.

 1 Values are means \pm SEM, n = 15 replicate pens of 35 hens for each feeding schedule. Values are the percent of hatching and dirty eggs out of the total number of eggs produced per pen each week. Hatching eggs exclude eggs that were abnormal in shape, cracked, double yolked, dirty, or were surrounded by only shell membranes and no shell. Dirty eggs were contaminated with feces and/or blood.

TABLE 6. Abnormal (A), membrane (M), double-yolked (DY), and cracked (C) egg production through 59 weeks of age for broiler breeder hens fed either once a day or twice a day after photostimulation for reproduction.

				Feeding	g schedule			
		Once	e a day			Twic	e a day	
Age	A^{1}	M ¹	DY ¹	C ¹	A ¹	M ¹	DY ¹	C^1
Week					-0/0			
23	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 + 0.00	8.33 ± 8.33	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	5.56 ± 3.67
24	0.00 ± 0.00	0.83 ± 0.83	6.74 ± 2.45	7.28 ± 2.54	0.48 ± 0.48	0.00 ± 0.00	1.70 ± 1.00	5.49 ± 1.78
25	1.07 ± 0.50	0.00 ± 0.00	1.66 ± 0.35	4.49 ± 0.74	1.09 ± 0.35	0.08 ± 0.08	2.61 ± 0.69	3.13 ± 0.46
26	2.07 ± 0.38	0.07 ± 0.07	2.62 ± 0.42	3.49 ± 0.44	1.95 ± 0.37	0.10 ± 0.07	2.56 ± 0.50	3.06 ± 0.48
27	1.49 ± 0.29	0.04 ± 0.04	2.42 ± 0.26	1.52 ± 0.28	1.93 ± 0.35	0.16 ± 0.07	2.68 ± 0.37	1.65 ± 0.26
28	0.78 ± 0.15	0.23 ± 0.11	1.17 ± 0.21	1.83 ± 0.30	1.21 ± 0.20	0.08 ± 0.05	2.29 ± 0.27 *	1.67 ± 0.34
29	1.04 ± 0.15	0.11 ± 0.08	1.29 ± 0.21	2.32 ± 0.28	1.29 ± 0.23	0.04 ± 0.04	1.73 ± 0.19	1.93 ± 0.20
30	1.66 ± 0.28	0.00 ± 0.00	1.34 ± 0.22	2.15 ± 0.34	2.13 ± 0.40	0.07 ± 0.05	1.25 ± 0.22	1.64 ± 0.20
31	0.39 ± 0.11	0.04 ± 0.04	1.28 ± 0.35	2.21 ± 0.30	$0.94 \pm 0.23*$	0.00 ± 0.00	0.86 ± 0.25	1.76 ± 0.30
32	0.77 ± 0.14	0.08 ± 0.05	0.90 ± 0.23	2.09 ± 0.39	0.87 ± 0.24	0.00 ± 0.00	0.65 ± 0.15	1.94 ± 0.24

33	0.94 ± 0.21	0.04 ± 0.04	0.70 ± 0.15	1.93 ± 0.32	0.86 ± 0.15	0.04 ± 0.04	0.46 ± 0.13	1.75 ± 0.24
34	0.97 ± 0.21	0.13 ± 0.10	0.41 + 0.13	2.12 ± 0.26	0.94 ± 0.24	0.00 ± 0.00	0.47 ± 0.18	1.81 ± 0.26
35	0.73 ± 0.16	0.04 ± 0.04	0.33 ± 0.12	2.16 ± 0.54	0.84 ± 0.14	0.12 ± 0.12	0.21 ± 0.10	1.79 ± 0.19
36	0.96 ± 0.36	0.00 ± 0.00	0.54 ± 0.15	2.47 ± 0.40	0.97 ± 0.20	0.08 ± 0.08	0.49 ± 0.14	1.90 ± 0.26
37	0.85 ± 0.16	0.00 ± 0.00	0.42 ± 0.12	1.74 ± 0.30	0.59 ± 0.18	0.04 ± 0.04	0.30 ± 0.11	2.14 ± 0.27
38	0.38 ± 0.13	0.09 ± 0.06	0.40 ± 0.13	2.44 ± 0.46	0.34 ± 0.12	0.00 ± 0.00	0.26 ± 0.08	1.91 ± 0.29
39	0.43 ± 0.17	0.00 ± 0.00	0.09 ± 0.06	1.69 ± 0.20	0.90 ± 0.14 *	0.04 ± 0.04	0.17 ± 0.09	1.61 ± 0.21
40	0.66 ± 0.15	0.00 ± 0.00	0.17 ± 0.08	3.04 ± 0.66	0.49 ± 0.10	0.09 ± 0.09	0.18 ± 0.08	2.04 ± 0.26
41	0.17 ± 0.07	0.00 ± 0.00	0.14 ± 0.07	1.61 ± 0.34	0.21 ± 0.10	0.09 ± 0.06	0.04 ± 0.04	1.56 ± 0.31
42	0.65 ± 0.19	0.00 ± 0.00	0.09 ± 0.06	1.93 ± 0.26	0.63 ± 0.19	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	1.42 ± 0.23
43	0.32 ± 0.12	0.00 ± 0.00	0.13 ± 0.07	1.88 ± 0.27	0.46 ± 0.19	0.05 ± 0.05	0.05 ± 0.05	1.80 ± 0.29
44	1.03 ± 0.23	0.00 ± 0.00	0.17 ± 0.13	1.96 ± 0.37	0.81 ± 0.19	0.05 ± 0.05	0.05 ± 0.05	1.08 ± 0.35
45	0.58 ± 0.18	0.00 ± 0.00	0.23 ± 0.11	1.07 ± 0.26	0.40 ± 0.14	0.05 ± 0.05	0.22 ± 0.10	1.45 ± 0.20
46	0.53 ± 0.18	0.00 ± 0.00	0.26 ± 0.13	1.85 ± 0.24	0.35 ± 0.12	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00 *	1.19 ± 0.50
47	0.50 ± 0.19	0.00 ± 0.00	0.10 ± 0.07	1.86 ± 0.29	0.65 ± 0.18	0.06 ± 0.06	0.00 ± 0.00	2.18 ± 0.40
48	0.68 ± 0.20	0.00 ± 0.00	0.11 ± 0.07	1.55 ± 0.30	0.72 ± 0.16	0.00 ± 0.00	0.06 ± 0.06	2.26 ± 0.48

49	0.37 ± 0.13	0.00 ± 0.00	0.10 ± 0.07	2.86 ± 0.37	0.70 ± 0.21	0.00 ± 0.00	0.05 ± 0.05	2.25 ± 0.40
50	1.16 ± 0.28	0.00 ± 0.00	0.05 ± 0.05	2.18 ± 0.53	0.41 ± 0.15 *	0.05 ± 0.05	0.00 ± 0.00	2.13 ± 0.51
51	0.51 ± 0.18	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	1.55 ± 0.38	0.67 ± 0.17	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	2.00 ± 0.38
52	0.39 ± 0.20	0.00 ± 0.00	0.06 ± 0.06	1.84 ± 0.46	0.18 ± 0.10	0.00 ± 0.00	0.06 ± 0.06	3.30 ± 0.72
53	0.30 ± 0.17	0.00 ± 0.00	0.06 ± 0.06	1.28 ± 0.31	0.39 ± 0.19	0.00 ± 0.00	0.07 ± 0.07	1.36 ± 0.39
54	0.43 ± 0.17	0.06 ± 0.06	0.13 ± 0.09	1.77 ± 0.38	0.79 ± 0.17	0.00 ± 0.00	0.19 ± 0.10	2.35 ± 0.38
55	0.52 ± 0.16	0.00 ± 0.00	0.19 ± 0.10	2.94 ± 0.61	0.26 ± 0.17	0.00 ± 0.00	0.07 ± 0.07	2.78 ± 0.52
56	1.57 ± 0.31	0.00 ± 0.00	0.60 ± 0.26	2.26 ± 0.45	1.21 ± 0.42	0.00 ± 0.00	006 ± 0.06	3.36 ± 0.60
57	0.70 ± 0.20	0.00 ± 0.00	0.06 ± 0.06	1.78 ± 0.34	0.77 ± 0.26	0.00 ± 0.00	0.08 ± 0.08	3.20 ± 0.65
58	0.63 ± 0.23	0.00 ± 0.00	0.30 ± 0.13	2.51 ± 0.40	0.37 ± 0.18	0.07 ± 0.07	0.14 ± 0.10	2.07 ± 0.38
59	0.29 ± 0.18	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	1.71 ± 0.33	0.32 ± 0.21	0.00 ± 0.00	0.08 ± 0.08	2.22 ± 0.47

^{*}Significantly different from the corresponding value for the once a day fed hens, $(P \le 0.05)$.

 $^{^{1}}$ Values are means \pm SEM, n = 15 replicate pens for each feeding program. Values are the percent of abnormal, membrane, double-yolked or cracked eggs out of the total number of eggs produced per pen per wk. Abnormal eggs were misshaped eggs.

TABLE 7. Biweekly egg weights for eggs produced by broiler breeder hens fed either once a day or twice a day after photostimulation for reproduction.¹

	Feeding schedule					
Age	Once a day	Twice a day				
Week	gg					
26	54.17 ± 0.29	54.98 ± 0.17 *				
28	58.20 ± 0.20	58.74 ± 0.20				
30	61.22 ± 0.15	62.10 ± 0.20 *				
32	62.95 ± 0.19	$63.91 \pm 0.19*$				
34	64.98 ± 0.27	65.87 ± 0.21 *				
36	66.89 ± 0.21	67.50 ± 0.24				
38	68.26 ± 0.20	69.09 ± 0.27 *				
40	68.91 ± 0.31	69.74 ± 0.27 *				
42	69.52 ± 0.19	70.49 ± 0.31 *				
44	70.46 ± 0.15	$71.47 \pm 0.22*$				
46	71.10 ± 0.19	$72.48 \pm 0.22*$				
48	71.23 ± 0.24	$72.40 \pm 0.29*$				
50	71.85 ± 0.21	73.11 ± 0.24 *				
52	72.10 ± 0.32	73.01 ± 0.24 *				
54	72.43 ± 0.27	73.51 ± 0.30 *				
56	72.99 ± 0.22	73.77 ± 0.35				
58	72.72 ± 0.28	73.27 ± 0.39				
60	75.56 ± 0.25	74.28 ± 0.30 *				

*Significantly different from the corresponding value for the once a day fed hens, $(P \le 0.05)$

 1 Values are means \pm SEM, n = 15 replicate pens of 35 hens each for both feeding treatments.

All the hatching eggs produced over a 2 d period for every pen were weighed for a given age period.

TABLE 8. Percent of total egg weight for individual egg component in eggs produced by broiler breeder hens fed either once a day or twice a day after photostimulation for reproduction.¹

		Feeding scl	hedule	
	On	ce a day	Tw	ice a day
Egg component	n	%	n	0/0
Albumen	520	55.29 ± 0.038	488	55.45 ± 0.040
Yolk	521	32.29 ± 0.128	493	32.22 ± 0.120
Shell	546	12.42 ± 0.102	508	12.33 ± 0.095

Tvalues are means \pm SEM. All hatching eggs produced over a 2 d period were collected from each feeding treatment when the hens were 46 wk of age. Not all egg components have the same n due to the loss of some components during the separation and weighing process.

TABLE 9. Specific gravities of eggs produced by broiler breeder hens fed either once a day or twice a day after photostimulation for reproduction.¹

	Feeding schedule					
Age (week)	Once a day	Twice a day				
30	1.0874 ± 0.0003	1.0874 ± 0.0002				
32	1.0886 ± 0.0003	1.0884 ± 0.0004				
34	1.0824 ± 0.0004	1.0815 ± 0.0003				
36	1.0854 ± 0.0004	1.0860 + 0.0003				
38	1.0845 ± 0.0003	1.0844 + 0.0002				
42	1.0829 ± 0.0003	1.0830 ± 0.0003				
46	1.0828 ± 0.0003	1.0828 ± 0.0004				
50	1.0841 ± 0.0003	1.0846 ± 0.0003				
54	1.0820 ± 0.0003	1.0815 ± 0.0004				
58	1.0830 ± 0.0005	1.0834 ± 0.0005				

Values are means \pm SEM, n = 15 replicate pens of 35 hens each for both feeding treatments.

Specific gravities were determined for all hatching eggs collected over a one day period for each pen at given age period.

TABLE 10. Fertility, hatchability, and hatchability of fertile eggs produced by broiler breeder hens fed either once a day or twice a day after photostimulation for reproduction.

	Feeding schedule								
		Once a day		Twice a day					
Age	Fertility ¹	Hatchability ¹	Hatch of fertile ¹	Fertility ¹	Hatchability ¹	Hatch of fertile ¹			
Week				0/0					
26	94.44 ± 1.40	84.26 ± 1.95	88.86 ± 1.33	95.89 ± 0.90	84.88 ± 1.49	87.64 ± 1.16			
28	97.69 ± 0.44	89.48 ± 0.86	91.13 ± 0.96	98.14 ± 0.26	89.14 ± 0.95	90.62 ± 0.92			
30	97.09 ± 0.82	85.26 ± 0.90	87.45 ± 0.93	97.62 ± 0.64	87.62 ± 1.12	89.07 ± 0.99			
32	97.09 ± 1.21	86.96 ± 1.32	89.22 ± 0.77	97.98 ± 0.55	87.31 ± 1.02	88.59 ± 1.06			
34	95.15 ± 1.35	83.89 ± 1.86	87.61 ± 1.50	96.80 ± 0.72	87.79 ± 1.22	90.09 ± 0.77			
36	91.15 ± 2.34	82.52 ± 2.79	89.78 ± 1.08	92.30 ± 1.88	83.29 ± 1.99	89.64 ± 0.83			
39	88.70 ± 3.60	80.62 ± 3.68	89.79 ± 1.01	94.04 ± 1.71	85.00 ± 1.93	89.58 ± 1.07			
41	89.28 ± 2.53	79.22 ± 2.51	89.09 + 1.02	93.69 ± 1.74	84.28 ± 1.51	90.04 ± 0.96			
44	93.05 ± 1.79	83.26 ± 1.60	88.92 ± 1.09	92.18 ± 2.03	80.69 ± 2.26	87.30 ± 1.50			
48	93.73 ± 0.99	80.86 ± 1.56	85.76 ± 1.21	92.34 ± 1.02	77.27 ± 1.82	83.62 ± 1.21			

52	89.52 ± 2.20	87.94 ± 0.85	82.89 ± 1.42	90.50 ± 1.89	84.94 ± 1.11	83.24 ± 1.43
56	90.46 ± 2.08	75.71 ± 2.03	84.50 ± 1.46	90.04 ± 2.13	76.39 ± 2.31	82.80 ± 1.18
60	90.10 ± 2.55	78.66 ± 2.72	85.43 ± 1.11	90.58 ± 1.63	74.99 ± 1.91	$81.91 \pm 1.24*$

^{*}Significantly different from the corresponding value for the once a day fed hens, $(P \le 0.05)$

¹ Values are means \pm SEM, n = 15 replicate pens of 35 hens for each feeding schedule. Ninety eggs from each replicate pen were incubated for each age period.

TABLE 11. The incidence of early dead (ED), mid dead (MD) and late dead (LD) embryo mortality as well as the incidence of pips (P) in eggs incubated from broiler breeder hens fed either once a day or twice a day after photostimulation for reproduction.

				Feeding	g schedule				
Age		Once	e a day			Twice a day			
	ED^1	MD^1	LD^1	P^1	ED^1	MD^1	LD^1	P ¹	
Week									
26	6.00 ± 0.53	0.08 ± 0.08	2.83 ± 0.64	0.87 ± 0.31	7.02 ± 0.98	0.00 ± 0.00	2.87 ± 0.57	0.83 ± 0.32	
28	4.48 ± 0.67	0.08 ± 0.08	2.84 ± 0.49	0.45 ± 0.15	5.13 ± 0.65	0.15 ± 0.10	2.31 + 0.49	0.89 ± 0.27	
30	4.24 ± 0.58	0.07 ± 0.07	4.32 ± 0.46	1.93 ± 0.43	3.50 ± 0.54	0.00 ± 0.00	3.66 ± 0.70	1.72 ± 0.37	
32	4.24 ± 0.57	0.00 ± 0.00	3.51 ± 0.62	1.72 ± 0.36	4.49 ± 0.63	0.00 ± 0.00	3.66 ± 0.54	1.79 ± 0.40	
34	5.29 ± 0.86	0.00 ± 0.00	3.21 ± 0.33	1.79 ± 0.40	3.36 ± 0.47	0.00 ± 0.00	3.35 ± 0.56	1.78 ± 0.43	
36	4.24 ± 0.58	0.00 ± 0.00	2.31 ± 0.44	1.19 ± 0.30	4.92 ± 0.53	0.00 ± 0.00	2.38 ± 0.55	0.97 ± 0.21	
39	3.62 ± 0.59	0.00 ± 0.00	2.33 ± 0.39	0.75 ± 0.24	3.47 ± 0.44	0.00 ± 0.00	2.70 ± 0.47	1.29 ± 0.27	
41	4.02 ± 0.61	0.00 ± 0.00	3.29 ± 0.57	0.74 ± 0.26	3.94 ± 0.73	0.00 ± 0.00	2.31 ± 0.48	1.64 ± 0.26 *	
44	3.51 ± 0.54	0.00 ± 0.00	3.59 + 0.62	1.12 ± 0.33	3.95 ± 0.57	0.00 ± 0.00	3.58 ± 0.76	2.98 ± 0.92	

48	4.27 ± 0.72	0.00 ± 0.00	5.53 ± 0.72	1.72 ± 0.42	5.75 ± 0.62	0.00 ± 0.00	4.56 ± 0.78	1.12 ± 0.22
52	4.55 ± 0.60	0.00 ± 0.00	5.74 ± 0.80	2.60 ± 0.83	5.65 ± 0.58	0.00 ± 0.00	4.96 ± 0.67	1.92 ± 0.39
56	6.50 ± 0.81	0.15 ± 0.10	4.66 ± 0.51	1.91 ± 0.38	5.43 ± 0.70	0.00 ± 0.00	4.48 ± 0.56	1.95 ± 0.47
60	5.05 ± 0.58	0.00 ± 0.00	3.46 ± 0.59	1.28 ± 0.31	5.83 ± 0.83	0.08 ± 0.08	5.29 ± 0.50 *	2.14 ± 0.36

^{*}Significantly different from the corresponding value for the once a day fed hens, $(P \le 0.05)$.

 $^{^{1}}$ Values are means \pm SEM, n = 15 replicate pens of 35 hens each for both feeding treatments. Ninety eggs from each replicate pen were incubated for each age period. Embryo mortality was classified as early dead (less than 7 d) mid dead (7-14 d) or late dead (15-21 d of incubation). Pips included both live and dead pips at the time of hatch.

5. CONCLUSIONS

Feed restriction in broiler breeder hens is necessary during both the rearing and laying periods due to their tendency for excessive weight gain and a resultant decrease in reproductive capabilities when they are fed *ad libitum*. Under typical commercial feed restriction guidelines the amount of feed that can be fed is so small that it necessitates feeding the hens on a skip a day feeding regimen during the rearing period. By combining two days worth of feed there is enough feed to distribute in the automatic feeders so all the birds have access to feed. Later when the birds reach reproductive maturity the amount of the daily feed allotment increases to support egg laying. The increased amount of feed allows the birds to be placed on an every day feeding regimen during the laying period. Even when the hens are placed on an everyday feeding schedule, they receive only one meal a day and thus spend much of each day in a fasting state. The results of the current research indicate that shortening the fasting period by splitting the daily feed allotment into two feeding periods may improve the reproductive performance of broiler breeder hens.

Broiler breeder hens that were fed twice a day after photostimulation and throughout the laying period had significantly greater hen day egg production during the early lay period as well as significantly greater cumulative hen day percent egg production compared to hens fed only once a day. Even though cumulative hen day egg production per bird was not significantly different, the increase of 4 eggs more per bird in the hens fed twice a day would have an economic impact. With 13 million broiler breeders in lay in Georgia per year, a 4 egg per bird increase in production would result in an annual increase of about 52 million eggs.

However, at this point we would not recommend to broiler breeder farm managers to feed their birds twice a day since the increase in egg production was off-set by a significant increase in hen mortality in the hens fed twice a day. The current research was conducted with Cobb slow feathering broiler breeder hens, which are known to have a high mortality rate that is enhanced even further when the hens have high production rates. Interestingly a majority of the mortality that occurred in the birds fed twice a day was of hens in active lay. Further research is needed utilizing different strains of broiler breeder hens before a final recommendation on feeding twice a day can be made.